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AVALONBAY COMMUNITIES, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(Dollars in thousands, except per share data)

  September 30, 2025 December 31, 2024
  (unaudited)  
ASSETS    
Real estate:    

Land and improvements $ 4,924,925  $ 4,888,146 
Buildings and improvements 21,027,361  20,454,276 
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 1,505,473  1,387,506 
  27,457,759  26,729,928 
Less accumulated depreciation (8,555,747) (8,164,411)
Net operating real estate 18,902,012  18,565,517 
Construction in progress, including land 1,428,609  1,042,673 
Land held for development 126,050  151,922 
Real estate assets held for sale, net 69,578  6,950 

Total real estate, net 20,526,249  19,767,062 

Cash and cash equivalents 123,313  108,576 
Restricted cash 198,578  158,500 
Unconsolidated investments 206,185  227,320 
Deferred development costs 101,523  43,675 
Prepaid expenses and other assets 643,790  540,950 
Right of use lease assets 149,594  154,654 

Total assets $ 21,949,232  $ 21,000,737 

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY    
Unsecured notes, net $ 7,780,713  $ 7,358,784 
Variable rate unsecured credit facility and commercial paper, net 234,981  — 
Mortgage notes payable, net 709,942  718,465 
Dividends payable 252,757  244,967 
Payables for construction 97,905  85,954 
Accrued expenses and other liabilities 406,542  356,987 
Lease liabilities 167,826  173,282 
Accrued interest payable 75,834  58,377 
Resident security deposits 61,237  62,829 

Total liabilities 9,787,737  9,059,645 

Commitments and contingencies

Equity:    
Preferred stock, $0.01 par value; $25 liquidation preference; 50,000,000 shares authorized at September 30, 2025 and December 31, 2024; zero shares
issued and outstanding at September 30, 2025 and December 31, 2024 —  — 
Common stock, $0.01 par value; 280,000,000 shares authorized at September 30, 2025 and December 31, 2024; 141,594,313 and 142,254,022 shares
issued and outstanding at September 30, 2025 and December 31, 2024, respectively 1,415  1,422 
Additional paid-in capital 11,271,388  11,314,116 
Accumulated earnings less dividends 638,898  591,250 
Accumulated other comprehensive income 26,214  34,304 

Total stockholders' equity 11,937,915  11,941,092 
Noncontrolling interests 223,580  — 

Total equity 12,161,495  11,941,092 
Total liabilities and equity $ 21,949,232  $ 21,000,737 

 
See accompanying notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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AVALONBAY COMMUNITIES, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(unaudited)
(Dollars in thousands, except per share data)

 

For the three months
ended September 30,

For the nine months
ended September 30,

 

2025 2024 2025 2024

Revenue:    
   Rental and other income $ 764,926  $ 732,591  $ 2,267,665  $ 2,167,866 
   Management, development and other fees 1,870  1,716  5,204  5,342 

            Total revenue 766,796  734,307  2,272,869  2,173,208 

Expenses:    
   Operating expenses, excluding property taxes 203,478  193,041  581,446  548,553 
   Property taxes 89,749  82,419  257,611  243,255 
   Expensed transaction, development and other pursuit costs, net of recoveries 1,392  1,573  8,629  7,235 
   Interest expense, net 65,410  55,769  190,075  167,613 
   Depreciation expense 230,371  212,122  679,989  631,314 
   General and administrative expense 22,028  20,089  64,805  60,006 
   Casualty and impairment loss —  —  858  2,935 

            Total expenses 612,428  565,013  1,783,413  1,660,911 

Income from unconsolidated investments 42,487  25,250  40,436  33,845 
Structured Investment Program interest income 6,832  5,470  19,882  12,544 
Gain on sale of communities, net 180,155  172,973  336,081  241,459 
Other real estate activity 127  314  3,919  636 

Income before income taxes 383,969  373,301  889,774  800,781 
Income tax benefit (expense) 193  (782) 840  (698)

Net income 384,162  372,519  890,614  800,083 
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests (2,856) —  (4,046) (181)

Net income attributable to common stockholders $ 381,306  $ 372,519  $ 886,568  $ 799,902 

Other comprehensive income:    
   Gain (loss) on cash flow hedges 36  470  (5,824) 12,308 
   Cash flow hedge gains reclassified to earnings (1,423) (274) (2,266) (197)

Comprehensive income $ 379,919  $ 372,715  $ 878,478  $ 812,013 

Earnings per common share - basic:    
          Net income attributable to common stockholders $ 2.68  $ 2.62  $ 6.23  $ 5.62 

Earnings per common share - diluted:    
          Net income attributable to common stockholders $ 2.68  $ 2.61  $ 6.22  $ 5.62 

See accompanying notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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AVALONBAY COMMUNITIES, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EQUITY

(unaudited)
(Dollars in thousands)

Common
stock

Additional
paid-in
capital

Accumulated
earnings

less
dividends

Accumulated
other

comprehensive
income (loss)

Total stockholder's
equity

Noncontrolling
interests

Total
equity

Balance at December 31, 2024 $ 1,422  $ 11,314,116  $ 591,250  $ 34,304  $ 11,941,092  $ —  $ 11,941,092 
Net income attributable to common stockholders —  —  236,597  —  236,597  —  236,597 
Loss on cash flow hedges, net —  —  —  (3,597) (3,597) —  (3,597)
Cash flow hedge gains reclassified to earnings —  —  —  (273) (273) —  (273)
Dividends declared to common stockholders ($1.75 per
share) —  —  (250,265) —  (250,265) —  (250,265)
Issuance of common stock, net of withholdings 1  (14,371) (1,096) —  (15,466) —  (15,466)
Amortization of deferred compensation —  8,195  —  —  8,195  —  8,195 
Balance at March 31, 2025 $ 1,423  $ 11,307,940  $ 576,486  $ 30,434  $ 11,916,283  $ —  $ 11,916,283 
Net income —  —  268,665  —  268,665  1,190  269,855 
Loss on cash flow hedges, net —  —  —  (2,263) (2,263) —  (2,263)
Cash flow hedge gains reclassified to earnings —  —  —  (570) (570) —  (570)
Issuance of DownREIT Units —  —  —  —  —  222,653  222,653 
Dividends declared to noncontrolling interests ($1.19 per
share) —  —  —  —  —  (1,264) (1,264)
Dividends declared to common stockholders ($1.75 per
share) —  —  (249,610) —  (249,610) —  (249,610)
Issuance of common stock, net of withholdings —  2,676  (6) —  2,670  —  2,670 
Amortization of deferred compensation —  12,544  —  —  12,544  —  12,544 
Balance at June 30, 2025 $ 1,423  $ 11,323,160  $ 595,535  $ 27,601  $ 11,947,719  $ 222,579  $ 12,170,298 
Net income —  —  381,306  —  381,306  2,856  384,162 
Gain on cash flow hedges —  —  —  36  36  —  36 
Cash flow hedge gains reclassified to earnings —  —  —  (1,423) (1,423) —  (1,423)
Dividends declared to noncontrolling interests ($1.75 per
share) —  —  —  —  —  (1,855) (1,855)
Dividends declared to common stockholders ($1.75 per
share) —  —  (248,227) —  (248,227) —  (248,227)
Issuance of common stock, net of withholdings —  49  11  —  60  —  60 
Repurchase of common stock, including repurchase
costs (8) (62,111) (89,727) —  (151,846) —  (151,846)
Amortization of deferred compensation —  10,290  —  —  10,290  —  10,290 
Balance at September 30, 2025 $ 1,415  $ 11,271,388  $ 638,898  $ 26,214  $ 11,937,915  $ 223,580  $ 12,161,495 
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Common
stock

Additional
paid-in
capital

Accumulated
earnings

less
dividends

Accumulated
other

comprehensive
income (loss)

Total
equity

Balance at December 31, 2023 $ 1,420  $ 11,287,626  $ 478,156  $ 16,116  $ 11,783,318 
Net income attributable to common stockholders —  —  173,449  —  173,449 
Gain on cash flow hedges, net —  —  —  7,339  7,339 
Cash flow hedge losses reclassified to earnings —  —  —  146  146 
Dividends declared to common stockholders ($1.70 per share) —  —  (242,701) —  (242,701)
Issuance of common stock, net of withholdings 2  (16,226) 467  —  (15,757)
Amortization of deferred compensation —  8,440  —  —  8,440
Balance at March 31, 2024 $ 1,422  $ 11,279,840  $ 409,371  $ 23,601  $ 11,714,234 
Net income attributable to common stockholders —  —  253,934  —  253,934 
Gain on cash flow hedges, net —  —  —  4,499  4,499 
Cash flow hedge gains reclassified to earnings —  —  —  (69) (69)
Noncontrolling interest activity —  (77) —  —  (77)
Dividends declared to common stockholders ($1.70 per share) —  —  (242,173) —  (242,173)
Issuance of common stock, net of withholdings —  (153) 2  —  (151)
Amortization of deferred compensation —  11,297  —  —  11,297 
Balance at June 30, 2024 $ 1,422  $ 11,290,907  $ 421,134  $ 28,031  $ 11,741,494 
Net income attributable to common stockholders —  —  372,519  —  372,519 
Gain on cash flow hedges, net —  —  —  470  470 
Cash flow hedge gains reclassified to earnings —  —  —  (274) (274)
Dividends declared to common stockholders ($1.70 per share) —  —  (242,221) —  (242,221)
Issuance of common stock, net of withholdings —  3,254  4  —  3,258 
Amortization of deferred compensation —  9,638  —  —  9,638 
Balance at September 30, 2024 $ 1,422  $ 11,303,799  $ 551,436  $ 28,227  $ 11,884,884 

See accompanying notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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AVALONBAY COMMUNITIES, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(unaudited)
(Dollars in thousands)

  For the nine months ended September 30,
  2025 2024
Cash flows from operating activities:

Net income $ 890,614  $ 800,083 
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation expense 679,989  631,314 
Amortization of deferred financing costs and debt discount 10,173  9,995 
Amortization of stock-based compensation 21,268  20,241 
Equity in income of, and return on, unconsolidated investments and noncontrolling interests, net of eliminations (32,994) (27,290)
Casualty and impairment loss 858  1,415 
Expensed transaction, development and other pursuit costs, net of recoveries 8,629  7,235 
Cash flow hedge gains reclassified to earnings (912) (197)
Gain on sale of real estate assets, net (340,150) (242,032)
Increase in prepaid expenses and other assets (35,365) (32,965)
Increase in accrued expenses, other liabilities, accrued interest payable and resident security deposits 68,564  111,266 

Net cash provided by operating activities 1,270,674  1,279,065 

Cash flows from investing activities:
Development/redevelopment of real estate assets including land acquisitions and deferred development costs (849,799) (691,744)
Acquisition of real estate assets, including partnership interest (643,975) (278,363)
Capital expenditures - existing real estate assets (183,809) (136,431)
Capital expenditures - non-real estate assets (2,509) (4,554)
Increase (decrease) in payables for construction 11,951  (6,440)
Proceeds from sale of real estate, net of selling costs 799,247  502,808 
Note receivable lending (20,327) (65,913)
Note receivable payments 25  237 
Distributions from unconsolidated entities and investment sale proceeds —  7,178 
Unconsolidated investments (35,881) (9,367)

Net cash used in investing activities (925,077) (682,589)

Cash flows from financing activities:
Issuance of common stock, net 3,377  7,232 
Repurchase of common stock, net (151,846) — 
Dividends paid (742,879) (720,136)
Net borrowings under unsecured credit facility and commercial paper 234,981  — 
Repayments of mortgage notes payable, including prepayment penalties (10,492) (9,131)
Issuance of unsecured notes 947,488  398,788 
Repayment of unsecured notes (525,000) — 
Payment of deferred financing costs (20,003) (3,762)
Receipt for termination of forward interest rate swaps 4,099  16,839 
Payments related to tax withholding for share-based compensation (16,643) (16,602)
Noncontrolling interests, joint venture and preferred equity transactions (13,864) (8,187)

Net cash used in financing activities (290,782) (334,959)

Net increase in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash 54,815  261,517 

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, beginning of period 267,076  530,960 

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, end of period $ 321,891  $ 792,477 

Cash paid during the period for interest, net of amount capitalized $ 163,332  $ 135,420 

See accompanying notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

The following table provides a reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash reported in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (dollars in
thousands):

September 30, 2025 September 30, 2024

Cash and cash equivalents $ 123,313  $ 552,356 
Restricted cash 198,578  240,121 

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash reported in the Condensed Consolidated
Statements of Cash Flows $ 321,891  $ 792,477 

Supplemental disclosures of non-cash investing and financing activities:

During the nine months ended September 30, 2025:

• As described in Note 4, "Equity," the Company issued 182,815 shares of common stock as part of the Company's stock-based compensation plans, of which 103,332
shares related to the conversion of performance awards to shares of common stock, and the remaining 79,483 shares valued at $17,598,000 were issued in connection
with new stock grants; 2,721 shares valued at $558,000 were issued through the Company's dividend reinvestment plan; 73,652 shares valued at $16,518,000 were
withheld to satisfy employees' tax withholding and other liabilities; and 2,681 restricted shares with an aggregate value of $528,000 were forfeited.

• The Company acquired six apartment communities, in the Dallas-Fort Worth metropolitan area, containing 1,844 apartment homes for $415,579,000, with the
consideration comprised of a cash payment of $193,000,000 and the issuance of 1,060,000 units representing limited partnership interests (the “DownREIT Units”).

• Common stock and DownREIT Unit dividends declared but not paid totaled $250,082,000.

• The Company recorded (i) a decrease to prepaid expenses and other assets of $5,824,000 and a corresponding adjustment to accumulated other comprehensive income;
and (ii) reclassified $2,266,000 of cash flow hedge gains from other comprehensive income to interest expense, net, to record the impact of the Company's derivative
and hedging activity.

During the nine months ended September 30, 2024:

• The Company issued 250,806 shares of common stock as part of the Company's stock-based compensation plans, of which 146,725 shares related to the conversion of
performance awards to shares of common stock, and the remaining 104,081 shares valued at $18,020,000 were issued in connection with new stock grants; 12,290
shares valued at $1,972,000 were issued in conjunction with the conversion of deferred stock awards; 2,777 shares valued at $521,000 were issued through the
Company's dividend reinvestment plan; 93,181 shares valued at $16,643,000 were withheld to satisfy employees' tax withholding and other liabilities; and 4,021
restricted shares with an aggregate value of $732,000 were forfeited.

• Common stock dividends declared but not paid totaled $243,029,000.

• The Company recorded (i) an increase to prepaid expenses and other assets of $12,308,000 and a corresponding adjustment to accumulated other comprehensive
income; and (ii) reclassified $197,000 of cash flow hedge gains from other comprehensive income to interest expense, net, to record the impact of the Company's
derivative and hedging activity.
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AVALONBAY COMMUNITIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(unaudited)

1.  Organization, Basis of Presentation and Significant Accounting Policies

Organization and Basis of Presentation

AvalonBay Communities, Inc. (the "Company," which term, unless the context otherwise requires, refers to AvalonBay Communities, Inc. together with its subsidiaries) is a
Maryland corporation that has elected to be treated as a real estate investment trust ("REIT") for federal income tax purposes under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as
amended (the "Code"). The Company develops, redevelops, acquires, owns and operates multifamily communities in New England, the New York/New Jersey metro area, the
Mid-Atlantic, the Pacific Northwest, and Northern and Southern California, as well as in the Company's expansion regions of Raleigh-Durham and Charlotte, North Carolina,
Southeast Florida, Dallas and Austin, Texas, and Denver, Colorado.

As of September 30, 2025, the Company owned or held a direct or indirect ownership interest in 314 apartment communities containing 97,219 apartment homes in 11 states
and the District of Columbia, of which 21 communities were under construction. The Company also owned or held a direct or indirect ownership interest in land or rights to
land on which the Company expects to develop an additional 34 communities that, if developed as expected, will contain an estimated 9,381 apartment homes.

The interim unaudited financial statements have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles ("GAAP") for interim financial information
and in conjunction with the rules  and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC"). Certain information and footnote disclosures normally included in
financial statements required by GAAP have been condensed or omitted pursuant to such rules  and regulations. These unaudited financial statements should be read in
conjunction with the financial statements and notes included in the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2024 (the "Form 10-K"). The
results of operations for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2025 are not necessarily indicative of the operating results for the full year. Management believes the
disclosures are adequate to ensure the information presented is not misleading. In the opinion of management, all adjustments and eliminations, consisting only of normal,
recurring adjustments necessary for a fair presentation of the financial statements for the interim periods, have been included.

Capitalized terms used without definition have meanings provided elsewhere in this Form 10-Q.

Principles of Consolidation

The accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries, certain joint venture partnerships, subsidiary
partnerships structured as DownREITs, and any variable interest entities that qualify for consolidation. All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been
eliminated in consolidation.

Noncontrolling Interests

The Company classifies the carrying value of the DownREIT Units as noncontrolling interests, as the units may be redeemed by unitholders on or after April 30, 2026 for cash
or common stock at the Company's election. Net income is allocated to the DownREIT Units pro-rata based on the weighted average proportion of DownREIT Units to the
weighted average combined total of outstanding common stock, participating securities, and DownREIT Units for the period.

Cash, Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash

Cash and cash equivalents includes all cash and liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less from the date acquired. Restricted cash includes principal
reserve funds that are restricted for the repayment of specified secured financing, amounts the Company has designated for planned 1031 exchange activity and resident
security deposits. The majority of the Company's cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash are held at major commercial banks.

Earnings per Common Share

Basic earnings per common share is computed by dividing net income attributable to common stockholders by the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the
period. All outstanding unvested restricted share awards contain rights to non-
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forfeitable dividends and participate in undistributed earnings with common stockholders and, accordingly, are considered participating securities that are included in the two-
class method of computing basic earnings per common share. Both the unvested restricted shares and other potentially dilutive common shares, and the related impact to
earnings, are considered when calculating earnings per common share on a diluted basis. Diluted earnings per common share was computed using the treasury stock method for
performance awards, options, participating securities and forward contracts, and using the if-converted method for DownREIT Units. The Company's earnings per common
share are determined as follows (dollars in thousands, except per share data):

 
For the three months ended September 30, For the nine months ended September 30,

 

2025 2024 2025 2024

Basic and diluted shares outstanding    
Weighted average common shares - basic 142,089,075  142,038,838  142,132,739  141,981,920 
Effect of dilutive securities 1,446,326  477,846  972,016  394,514 
Weighted average common shares - diluted 143,535,401  142,516,684  143,104,755  142,376,434 

Calculation of Earnings per Common Share - basic    
Net income attributable to common stockholders $ 381,306  $ 372,519  $ 886,568  $ 799,902 
Net income allocated to unvested restricted shares (719) (706) (1,660) (1,537)
Net income attributable to common stockholders - basic $ 380,587  $ 371,813  $ 884,908  $ 798,365 

Weighted average common shares - basic 142,089,075  142,038,838  142,132,739  141,981,920 

Earnings per common share - basic $ 2.68  $ 2.62  $ 6.23  $ 5.62 

Calculation of Earnings per Common Share - diluted    
Net income attributable to common stockholders $ 381,306  $ 372,519  $ 886,568  $ 799,902 
Net income attributable to DownREIT unitholders in consolidated partnerships 2,856  —  4,046  — 
Net income - diluted $ 384,162  $ 372,519  $ 890,614  $ 799,902 

Weighted average common shares - diluted 143,535,401  142,516,684  143,104,755  142,376,434 

Earnings per common share - diluted $ 2.68  $ 2.61  $ 6.22  $ 5.62 

 
Certain options to purchase shares of common stock in the amounts of 19,266, forward contracts to sell shares of common stock in the amounts of 4,047,113, and unvested
performance awards in the amounts of 42,609 as of September 30, 2025 were not included in the computation of diluted earnings per common share because they were anti-
dilutive for the period. Certain options to purchase shares of common stock in the amounts of 9,793 and forward contracts to sell shares of common stock in the amounts of
3,757,922 were outstanding as of September 30, 2024 and were not included in the computation of diluted earnings per common share because they were anti-dilutive for the
period.

Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities

The Company enters into interest rate swap and interest rate cap agreements (collectively, "Hedging Derivatives") for interest rate risk management purposes and in conjunction
with certain variable rate secured debt to satisfy lender requirements. The Company does not enter into Hedging Derivatives for trading or other speculative purposes. The
Company assesses the effectiveness of qualifying hedges, both at inception and on an ongoing basis. The fair values of Hedging Derivatives that are in an asset position are
recorded in prepaid expenses and other assets. The fair values of Hedging Derivatives that are in a liability position are included in accrued expenses and other liabilities. Fair
value changes for derivatives that are not in qualifying hedge relationships are reported as a component of interest expense, net. For the Hedging Derivatives that qualify as
effective cash flow hedges, the Company records the cumulative changes in the Hedging Derivatives' fair value in accumulated other comprehensive income. Amounts recorded
in accumulated other comprehensive income will be reclassified into earnings in the periods in which earnings are affected by the hedged cash flow. The effective portion of the
change in fair value of the Hedging Derivatives that qualify as effective fair value hedges is reported as an adjustment to the carrying amount of the corresponding hedged item.
Receipts or payments associated with the gains and losses on the Company’s cash flow hedges of future fixed rate debt issuances are presented as a component of cash flows
from financing activities in the period the hedges are terminated and the receipt or payments for the Company’s cash flow hedges of interest on variable rate debt are presented
as a component of
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cash flows from operating activities. Payments for derivatives that are not designated in hedging relationships are presented as a component of cash flows from operating
activities. See Note 11, “Fair Value,” for further discussion of derivative financial instruments.

Acquisitions of Investments in Real Estate

The Company accounts for real estate acquisitions as either an asset acquisition or a business combination. Under either model, the Company identifies and determines the fair
value of any assets acquired, liabilities assumed and any noncontrolling interest in the acquiree. Typical assets acquired and liabilities assumed include land, building, furniture,
fixtures and equipment, debt and identified intangible assets and liabilities, consisting of the value of above or below market leases and in-place leases. The Company utilizes
various sources to determine fair value, including its own analysis of recently acquired and existing comparable properties in its portfolio and other market data. Consideration
for acquisitions is typically in the form of cash unless otherwise disclosed. For a business combination, the Company records the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based
on the fair value of each respective item. For an asset acquisition, the purchase price is allocated based on the relative fair value of the net assets. The Company expenses all
applicable acquisition costs for a business combination and capitalizes all applicable acquisition costs for an asset acquisition. The Company expects that acquisitions of
individual operating communities will generally be asset acquisitions.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make certain estimates and assumptions. These estimates and assumptions affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the dates of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and
expenses during the reporting periods. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Reclassifications

Certain reclassifications have been made to amounts in prior years' financial statements and notes to the financial statements to conform to current year presentations as a result
of changes in held for sale classification, disposition activity and segment classification.

Leases

The Company is party to leases as both a lessor and a lessee, primarily as follows:

• lessor of residential and commercial space within its apartment communities; and
• lessee under (i) ground leases for land underlying current operating or development communities and certain commercial and parking facilities and (ii) office leases for

its corporate headquarters and regional offices.

Lessee Considerations

The Company assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based on whether the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset, including specified
portions of larger assets, for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

The Company’s leases include both fixed and variable lease payments that are based on an index or rate such as the consumer price index (CPI) or percentage rents based on
total sales. Variable lease payments are generally not included in the lease liability, but recognized as variable lease expense in the period in which they are incurred.

For leases that have options to extend the term or terminate the lease early, the Company only factored the impact of such options into the lease term if the option was
considered reasonably certain to be exercised. The Company determines the discount rate associated with its ground and office leases on a lease-by-lease basis using the
Company’s actual borrowing rates as well as indicative market pricing for longer term rates and taking into consideration the remaining term of the lease agreements. For leases
that are 12 months or less, the Company elected the practical expedient to not recognize the lease asset and liability.
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Lessor Considerations

The Company's residential and commercial leases at its apartment communities are operating leases. For leases that include rent concessions and/or fixed and determinable rent
increases, rental income is recognized on a straight-line basis over the noncancellable term of the lease, which, for residential leases, is generally one year. Some of the
Company’s commercial leases have renewal options which the Company will only include in the lease term if, at the commencement of the lease, it is reasonably certain that
the lessee will exercise this option.

For the Company’s leases, which are comprised of a lease component and common area maintenance as a non-lease component, the Company determined that (i) the leases are
operating leases, (ii) the lease component is the predominant component and (iii) all components of its operating leases share the same timing and pattern of transfer.

Revenue and Gain Recognition

The Company recognizes revenue for the transfer of goods and services to customers for consideration that the Company expects to receive. The majority of the Company’s
revenue is derived from residential and commercial rental and other lease income, which are accounted for as discussed above, under "Leases". The Company's revenue streams
that are not accounted for as residential and commercial rental and other lease income include (i) management, development and other fees, (ii) non-lease related revenue and
(iii) gains or losses on the sale of real estate.

The following table details the Company’s revenue disaggregated by reportable operating segment, further discussed in Note 8, “Segment Reporting,” for the three and nine
months ended September 30, 2025 and 2024. Segment information for total revenue excludes real estate assets that were sold from January 1, 2024 through September 30,
2025, or otherwise qualify as held for sale as of September 30, 2025, as described in Note 6, "Real Estate Disposition Activities" (dollars in thousands):

Same Store
Other

Stabilized
Development/

Redevelopment
Non-

allocated (1) Total

For the three months ended September 30, 2025
Management, development and other fees and other ancillary
items $ —  $ —  $ —  $ 1,870  $ 1,870 
Non-lease related revenue (2) 2,222  1,761  108  —  4,091 

Total non-lease revenue 2,222  1,761  108  1,870  5,961 

Lease income (3) 689,703  45,709  13,554  —  748,966 

Total revenue $ 691,925  $ 47,470  $ 13,662  $ 1,870  $ 754,927 

For the three months ended September 30, 2024
Management, development and other fees and other ancillary
items $ —  $ —  $ —  $ 1,716  $ 1,716 
Non-lease related revenue (2) 1,966  1,427  51  —  3,444 

Total non-lease revenue 1,966  1,427  51  1,716  5,160 

Lease income (3) 674,384  24,283  2,860  —  701,527 

Total revenue $ 676,350  $ 25,710  $ 2,911  $ 1,716  $ 706,687 
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Same Store
Other

Stabilized
Development/

Redevelopment
Non-

allocated (1) Total
For the nine months ended September 30, 2025

Management, development and other fees and other ancillary
items $ —  $ —  $ —  $ 5,204  $ 5,204 
Non-lease related revenue (2) 6,267  4,822  252  —  11,341 

Total non-lease revenue 6,267  4,822  252  5,204  16,545 

Lease income (3) 2,058,298  117,508  29,470  —  2,205,276 

Total revenue $ 2,064,565  $ 122,330  $ 29,722  $ 5,204  $ 2,221,821 

For the nine months ended September 30, 2024
Management, development and other fees and other ancillary
items $ —  $ —  $ —  $ 5,342  $ 5,342 
Non-lease related revenue (2) 6,881  4,115  104  —  11,100 

Total non-lease revenue 6,881  4,115  104  5,342  16,442 

Lease income (3) 2,002,968  49,431  4,669  —  2,057,068 

Total revenue $ 2,009,849  $ 53,546  $ 4,773  $ 5,342  $ 2,073,510 

______________________________
(1) Represents third-party property management, developer fees and miscellaneous income and other ancillary items which are not allocated to a reportable segment.
(2) Amounts include revenue streams related to leasing activities that are not considered components of a lease, and revenue streams not related to leasing activities including, but not

limited to, application fees, renters insurance fees and vendor revenue sharing.
(3) Represents residential and commercial rental and other lease income, as discussed above, under "Leases".

Due to the nature and timing of the Company’s identified revenue streams, there were no material amounts of outstanding or unsatisfied performance obligations as of
September 30, 2025.
Uncollectible Lease Revenue Reserves

The Company recorded an aggregate offset to income for uncollectible lease revenue, net of amounts received from government rent relief programs, for its residential and
commercial portfolios of $11,531,000 and $11,669,000 for the three months ended September 30, 2025 and 2024, respectively, and $35,411,000 and $35,450,000 for the nine
months ended September 30, 2025 and 2024, respectively.

Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In December 2023, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") 2023-09, Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures,
which requires (i) a tabular rate reconciliation of the reported income tax expense (benefit) from continuing operations into specific categories, (ii) separate disclosure for any
reconciling items within certain categories above a quantitative threshold, (iii) disclosure of income taxes paid disaggregated by federal, state and material jurisdictions and (iv)
disclosure of income tax expense from continuing operations disaggregated by federal and state. The new standard will be effective for annual periods beginning January 1,
2025. The Company does not expect the standard to have a material effect on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

In November 2024, the FASB issued ASU 2024-03, Disaggregation of Income Statement Expenses, which requires the disaggregation for certain expenses presented on the
face of an entity’s income statement in the entity's disclosures. Additionally, it requires the disclosure of selling expenses and descriptions of amounts not separately
disaggregated. The new standard will be effective for annual reporting periods beginning January 1, 2027, and interim reporting periods beginning January 1, 2028. The
Company is assessing the standard and does not expect it to have a material effect on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

In September 2025, the FASB issued ASU 2025-06, Targeted Improvements to the Accounting for Internal-Use Software, which updates the accounting for software
implementation and development, specifically with respect to cost capitalization.
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The amendments replace the former model which considered prescriptive and sequential software development stages with an approach that is focused on management
authorization and probability that the project will be completed and used for its intended purpose. The new standard will be effective for annual reporting periods beginning
January 1, 2027, and interim reporting periods within those annual periods. The Company is assessing the standard and does not expect it to have a material effect on the
Company's financial position or results of operations.

2.  Interest Capitalized

The Company capitalizes interest during the development and redevelopment of real estate assets. Capitalized interest associated with the Company's development or
redevelopment activities totaled $13,724,000 and $10,348,000 for the three months ended September 30, 2025 and 2024, respectively, and $36,107,000 and $33,146,000 for the
nine months ended September 30, 2025 and 2024, respectively.

3.  Debt

The Company's debt, which consists of unsecured notes, the variable rate term loan (the "Term Loan"), mortgage notes payable, the Credit Facility and Commercial Paper, each
as defined below, as of September 30, 2025 and December 31, 2024 is summarized below. The following amounts and discussion do not include the mortgage notes related to
the communities classified as held for sale, if any, as of September 30, 2025 and December 31, 2024, as shown in the accompanying Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets
(dollars in thousands) (see Note 6, "Real Estate Disposition Activities"). The weighted average interest rates in the following table for secured and unsecured notes include costs
of financing including debt issuance costs as well as credit enhancement and trustees' fees, the impact of interest rate hedges and mark-to-market adjustments.

  September 30, 2025 December 31, 2024

Fixed rate unsecured notes (1) $ 7,825,000  3.6 % $ 7,400,000  3.4 %
Fixed rate mortgage notes payable - conventional and tax-exempt 332,874  3.9 % 333,479  3.9 %
Variable rate mortgage notes payable - conventional and tax-exempt 391,250  4.5 % 400,950  5.2 %

Total mortgage notes payable, unsecured notes and Term Loan 8,549,124  3.6 % 8,134,429  3.5 %
Credit Facility —  — % —  — %
Commercial paper 235,000  4.4 % —  — %

Total principal outstanding 8,784,124  3.6 % 8,134,429  3.5 %
Less deferred financing costs and debt discount (2) (58,488) (57,180)

Total $ 8,725,636  $ 8,077,249 

_____________________________________
(1) Includes the $550,000,000 Term Loan that has been swapped to an effective fixed rate of 4.44% using interest rate hedges.
(2) Excludes deferred financing costs and debt discount associated with the Credit Facility and Commercial Paper, which are included in Prepaid expenses and other assets and Variable rate

unsecured credit facility and commercial paper, net, respectively, on the accompanying Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets.

In April 2025, the Company entered into the Seventh Amended and Restated Revolving Loan Agreement with a syndicate of banks (the "Credit Facility"), amending the prior
credit facility, dated September 27, 2022. The amended and restated Credit Facility (i) increased the borrowing capacity under the Credit Facility from $2,250,000,000 to
$2,500,000,000, and (ii) extended the term from September 2026 to April 2030. The interest rate that would be applicable to borrowings under the Credit Facility was 4.95% at
September 30, 2025 and was composed of (i) the Secured Overnight Financing Rate ("SOFR"), applicable to the period of borrowing for a particular draw of funds from the
Credit Facility (e.g., one month to maturity, three months to maturity, etc.), plus (ii) the current borrowing spread to SOFR of 0.705% per annum, assuming a daily SOFR
borrowing rate. The borrowing spread to SOFR can vary from SOFR plus 0.65% to SOFR plus 1.40% based upon the rating of the Company's unsecured senior notes. There is
also an annual facility commitment fee of 0.12% of the borrowing capacity under the Credit Facility, which can vary from 0.10% to 0.30% based upon the rating of the
Company's unsecured senior notes. The Credit Facility contains a sustainability-linked pricing component which provides for interest rate margin and commitment fee
reductions or increases related to certain environmental sustainability targets, specifically greenhouse gas emission reductions, with the adjustment determined annually. An
annual determination under the sustainability-linked pricing component occurred in July 2024, maintaining reductions of approximately 0.02% to the interest rate margin and
0.005% to the commitment fee due to the Company's achievement of sustainability targets. On August 1, 2025, the Company amended the Credit Facility to extend the
applicability of its sustainability-linked pricing component. All other terms of the Credit Facility, including its maturity date of April 2030, remain unchanged.
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The Company has an unsecured commercial paper note program (the “Commercial Paper Program”). In April 2025, the Company increased the capacity of the Commercial
Paper Program from $500,000,000 to $1,000,000,000. Under the terms of the Commercial Paper Program, the Company may issue unsecured commercial paper notes with
maturities of less than one year. The program is backstopped by the Company's commitment to maintain available borrowing capacity under its unsecured credit facility in an
amount equal to actual borrowings under the program.

The availability on the Company's Credit Facility as of September 30, 2025 and December 31, 2024 was as follows (dollars in thousands):
  September 30, 2025 December 31, 2024

Credit Facility commitment $ 2,500,000  $ 2,250,000 
Credit Facility outstanding —  — 
Commercial paper outstanding (235,000) — 
Letters of credit outstanding (1) (864) (1,714)

Total Credit Facility available $ 2,264,136  $ 2,248,286 

_____________________________________
(1) In addition, the Company had $55,037 and $45,910 outstanding in additional letters of credit unrelated to the Credit Facility as of September  30, 2025 and December  31, 2024,

respectively.

The following debt activity occurred during the nine months ended September 30, 2025:

• In April 2025, the Company entered into a $450,000,000 Term Loan which matures in April 2029. The Term Loan bears interest at varying levels based on (i) the
SOFR applicable to the period of borrowing for a particular draw of funds from the facility, which rate is recalculated at the end of each such period if the Term Loan
remains outstanding, (ii) a stated spread over SOFR that can vary from SOFR plus 0.70% to SOFR plus 1.60% per annum based upon the rating of the Company’s
unsecured and unsubordinated long-term indebtedness and (iii) a sustainability spread adjustment that can range from (0.02)% to 0.02%. The current borrowing spread
to SOFR under the Term Loan is 0.78% per annum, inclusive of a sustainability spread adjustment of (0.02)%. On August 1, 2025, the Company amended the Term
Loan to (i) exercise its full accordion option to increase the amount of its Term Loan by $100,000,000 to $550,000,000 and (ii) extend the applicability of its
sustainability-linked pricing component. During the nine months ended September 30, 2025, the Company drew down the $550,000,000 available under the Term
Loan and entered into $550,000,000 notional amount of interest rate swaps to hedge the impact of variability in interest rates on the Term Loan. Including the impact
of these swaps and transaction costs, assuming the Term Loan will be fully drawn until maturity and the Company's current borrowing spread to SOFR, the effective
interest rate on borrowings under the Term Loan is fixed at 4.44% through maturity.

• In June 2025, the Company repaid $525,000,000 of its 3.45% unsecured notes at par upon maturity.

• In July 2025, the Company issued $400,000,000 principal amount of unsecured notes in a public offering under its existing shelf registration statement for proceeds net
of underwriting fees and discounts of approximately $394,888,000, before considering the impact of other offering costs. The notes mature in August 2035 and were
issued at a 5.00% interest rate. The effective interest rate on the notes is 5.05%, considering the net proceeds and including the impact of offering costs and hedging
activity.

In the aggregate, secured notes payable mature at various dates from March 2027 through July 2066, and are secured by certain apartment communities (with a net carrying
value of $1,217,993,000, excluding communities classified as held for sale, as of September 30, 2025).
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Scheduled payments and maturities of secured notes payable and unsecured notes outstanding at September 30, 2025 were as follows (dollars in thousands):

Year
Secured notes principal

payments and maturities Unsecured notes and Term Loan maturities
Stated interest rate of

 unsecured notes and Term Loan
2025 $ 1,073  $ 300,000  3.50 %
2026 11,611  475,000  2.95 %

300,000  2.90 %
2027 250,159  400,000  3.35 %
2028 19,002  450,000  3.20 %

400,000  1.90 %
2029 131,561  450,000  3.30 %

550,000  SOFR + 0.78%
2030 9,000  700,000  2.30 %
2031 9,600  600,000  2.45 %
2032 10,400  700,000  2.05 %
2033 11,900  350,000  5.00 %

400,000  5.30 %
2034 12,800  400,000  5.35 %

Thereafter 257,018  400,000  5.00 %
350,000  3.90 %
300,000  4.15 %
300,000  4.35 %

  $ 724,124  $ 7,825,000   

The Company was in compliance at September 30, 2025 with customary covenants under the Credit Facility, the Term Loan and the indentures under which the unsecured
notes were issued.

4.  Equity

As of September 30, 2025 and December 31, 2024, the Company's charter had authorized for issuance a total of 280,000,000 shares of common stock and 50,000,000 shares of
preferred stock.

During the nine months ended September 30, 2025, the Company:

i. issued 8,759 shares of common stock in connection with stock options exercised;
ii. issued 2,721 shares of common stock through the Company's dividend reinvestment plan;
iii. issued 182,815 shares of common stock in connection with restricted stock grants and the conversion of performance awards to shares of common stock;
iv. issued 9,126 shares of common stock through the Employee Stock Purchase Plan;
v. withheld 73,652 shares of common stock to satisfy employees' tax withholding and other liabilities;
vi. canceled 2,681 shares of restricted common stock upon forfeiture; and
vii. purchased 786,797 shares of common stock through the 2020 Stock Repurchase Program.

Deferred compensation granted under the Company's Second Amended and Restated 2009 Equity Incentive Plan (the "Plan") does not impact the Company's Condensed
Consolidated Financial Statements until recognized as compensation cost.

The Company has a continuous equity program (the "CEP") under which the Company may sell (and/or enter into forward sale agreements for the sale of) up to $1,000,000,000
of its common stock from time to time. During 2024, the Company entered into forward contracts under the CEP to sell 367,113 shares of common stock for approximate
proceeds, net of fees, of $80,687,000, based on the gross weighted average price of $223.27 per share, with settlement of the forward contracts expected to occur on one or
more dates not later than December 31, 2025. The final proceeds will be determined on the date(s) of settlement and are subject to certain customary adjustments for dividends
and a daily interest factor. During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2025, the Company had no sales under the CEP. As of September 30, 2025, the Company had
$623,997,000 remaining authorized for issuance under the program, after consideration of the forward contracts.
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In addition to the CEP, during the three months ended September 30, 2024, the Company entered into forward contracts to sell 3,680,000 shares of common stock at a discount
to the closing price of $226.52 per share for approximate net proceeds of $808,606,000 (the "September 2024 Equity Offering"). The final proceeds will be determined on the
date(s) of settlement and are subject to certain customary adjustments for dividends and a daily interest factor. During the three months ended September  30, 2025, the
Company amended each of the forward contracts related to the September 2024 Equity Offering to extend the settlement of the forward contracts to a date no later than
December 31, 2026.

As of September 30, 2025, the Company had a stock repurchase program under which the Company was authorized to acquire shares of its common stock in open market or
negotiated transactions up to an aggregate purchase price of $500,000,000 (the "2020 Stock Repurchase Program"). During the three months ended September 30, 2025, the
Company repurchased 786,797 shares of common stock at an average price of $192.99 per share, including fees, for a total of $151,846,000. As of September 30, 2025, the
Company had $162,407,000 remaining authorized for purchase under this program. See Note 12, "Subsequent Events," for further discussion of equity activity subsequent to
September 30, 2025.

5.  Investments

Investments in Consolidated Real Estate Entities

The following real estate acquisitions occurred during the nine months ended September 30, 2025 (dollars in thousands):

Community name Location Period Apartment homes Purchase price

Avalon Hill Country Austin, TX Q1 2025 554 $ 136,000 
Avalon Wolf Ranch Georgetown, TX Q1 2025 303 $ 51,000 
eaves Twin Creeks (1) Allen, TX Q2 2025 216 $ 44,784 
Avalon Benbrook (1) Benbrook, TX Q2 2025 301 $ 60,194 
Avalon Castle Hills (1) Lewisville, TX Q2 2025 276 $ 65,491 
Avalon Frisco (1) Frisco, TX Q2 2025 330 $ 80,419 
Avalon Frisco North (1) Frisco, TX Q2 2025 349 $ 88,606 
eaves North Dallas (1) Dallas, TX Q2 2025 372 $ 76,085 
Avalon at Palisades Charlotte, NC Q3 2025 274 $ 72,300 
Avalon Coconut Creek Coconut Creek, FL Q3 2025 270 $ 99,000 
eaves Redmond Campus II Redmond, WA Q3 2025 40 $ 15,650 
Total 3,285 $ 789,529 

(1)    Included in the transaction to acquire six apartment communities in the Dallas-Fort Worth metropolitan area during the three months ended June 30, 2025.

On April 30 2025, the Company acquired the six apartment communities in the Dallas-Fort Worth metropolitan area included in the list above, containing 1,844 apartment
homes. The consideration was comprised of a cash payment of $193,000,000 and the issuance of 1,060,000 DownREIT Units, which were valued based on the closing price of
the Company's common stock on the acquisition date. The DownREIT Units are entitled to receive distributions at the same rate as dividends on a share of the Company’s
common stock (pro rated for the time outstanding during the first quarter of issuance). Beginning on April 30, 2026, holders of DownREIT Units may present some or all of
their units for redemption, being entitled to receive a cash amount per unit that is related to the then fair market value of the Company’s common stock, except that in lieu of
such cash redemption the Company may elect to redeem units in exchange for an equal number of shares of the Company’s common stock.

The Company accounted for its purchases as asset acquisitions and recorded the acquired assets and assumed liabilities, including identifiable intangibles, at their relative fair
values based on the purchase price and acquisition costs incurred. The Company uses third-party pricing or internal models for the value of the land, a valuation model for the
value of the building, and an internal model to determine the fair value of the remaining real estate assets and in-place leases. Given the heterogeneous nature of multifamily
real estate, the fair values for the land, building, real estate assets and in-place leases incorporated significant unobservable inputs and therefore are considered to be Level 3
prices within the fair value hierarchy.

Structured Investment Program

The Company operates a Structured Investment Program (the "SIP"), an investment platform through which the Company provides mezzanine loans or preferred equity to
third-party multifamily developers. During the nine months ended September
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30, 2025, the Company entered into two additional commitments, agreeing to provide an investment of up to $48,000,000 in multifamily development projects in California
and Southeast Florida. As of September 30, 2025, the Company had nine commitments to fund up to $239,585,000 in the aggregate. The Company's investment commitments
have a weighted average rate of return of 11.7% and a weighted average initial maturity date of May 2027. At September 30, 2025, the Company had funded $206,876,000 of
these commitments. The Company recognized interest income of $7,068,000 and $4,657,000 for the three months ended September 30, 2025 and 2024, respectively, and
$19,888,000 and $11,773,000 for the nine months ended September 30, 2025 and 2024, respectively, from the SIP. Interest income and any change in the expected credit loss
are included as a component of Structured Investment Program interest income on the accompanying Condensed Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income.

The Company evaluates each SIP commitment to determine the classification as a loan or an investment in a real estate development project. As of September 30, 2025, all of
the SIP commitments are classified as loans. The Company includes amounts outstanding under the SIP as a component of prepaid expenses and other assets on the
accompanying Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets. The Company evaluates the credit risk for each commitment on an ongoing basis, estimating the reserve for credit
losses using relevant available information from internal and external sources. Market-based historical credit loss data provides the basis for the estimation of expected credit
losses, with adjustments, if necessary, for differences in current commitment-specific risk characteristics, such as the amount of equity capital provided by a borrower, amount
of senior debt secured by the project, nature of the real estate being developed or other factors.

Unconsolidated Investments

As of September 30, 2025, the Company had investments in four unconsolidated entities with real estate holdings, with ownership interests ranging from 20.0% to 28.6%,
coupled with other unconsolidated investments including third-party property technology and sustainability focused companies and investment management funds.

In June 2025, the Arts District joint venture, which owns an apartment community in which the Company has an ownership interest of 25%, secured a variable rate loan of up
to $173,000,000. The outstanding borrowing is subject to an interest rate cap, which will limit the interest rate to 8.2%, based on the current borrowing spread. The loan
matures in July 2028 and has two one-year extension options, subject to certain conditions. The joint venture used the proceeds to repay its outstanding $158,735,000, variable
rate construction loan which was scheduled to mature in August 2025. The Company has provided the lender a partial payment guarantee for 25% of the loan's maximum
borrowing capacity, on behalf of the venture. Any amounts payable under the 25% loan guarantee by the Company are obligations of the joint venture partners in proportion to
their ownership interest, and in the event the Company is obligated to perform under its loan guarantee, its joint venture partner is obligated to reimburse the Company for 75%
of amounts paid. As of September 30, 2025, the loan had an outstanding balance of $161,567,000.

In September 2025, the Company acquired its joint venture partner's 50% interest in Avalon Alderwood Place, a 328 apartment home community in Lynnwood, WA for a
purchase price of $71,250,000. With the buyout of the joint venture partner's interest, Avalon Alderwood Place is now a wholly owned apartment community and consolidated
for financial reporting purposes.

The Company accounts for its unconsolidated investments under the equity method of accounting, net asset value or under the measurement alternative with the carrying
amount of the investment adjusted to fair value when there is an observable transaction for the same or similar investment of the same issuer indicating a change in fair value.
The significant accounting policies of the unconsolidated investments are consistent with those of the Company in all material respects. Certain of these investments are subject
to various buy‑sell provisions or other rights which are customary in real estate joint venture agreements. The Company and its partners in these entities may initiate these
provisions to either sell the Company's interest or acquire the interest from the Company's joint venture partner.

Expensed Transaction, Development and Other Pursuit Costs

The Company capitalizes costs associated with its development activities to the basis of land held when future development is probable, or if the Company has either not yet
acquired the land or if the project is subject to a leasehold interest, the costs are capitalized as deferred development costs ("Development Rights"). Future development of these
Development Rights is dependent upon various factors, including zoning and regulatory approval, rental market conditions, construction costs and the availability of
capital. Costs incurred for pursuits for which future development is not yet considered probable are expensed as incurred. If the Company determines a Development Right is
no longer probable, the Company recognizes any necessary expense to write down its basis in the Development Right. The Company assesses its portfolio of land held for
development as well as for investment for impairment if the intent of the Company changes with respect to either the development of, or the expected holding period for, the
land. The Company incurred a charge of $1,392,000 and $1,573,000 for the three months
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ended September 30, 2025 and 2024, respectively, and $8,629,000 and $7,235,000 for the nine months ended September 30, 2025 and 2024, respectively, for expensed
transaction, development and other pursuit costs, net of recoveries, which include development pursuits that were not yet probable of future development at the time incurred,
or for pursuits that we determined were no longer probable of being developed. The amounts for the nine months ended September 30, 2025 and 2024 include a write-off of
$3,668,000 and $1,600,000, respectively, for one development opportunity in each year that the Company determined is no longer probable. These costs are included in
expensed transaction, development and other pursuit costs, net of recoveries on the accompanying Condensed Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income. These costs
can vary greatly, and the costs incurred in any given period may be significantly different in future periods.

Long-Lived Assets Casualty Loss

For the nine months ended September 30, 2025 and 2024, the Company recognized $858,000 and $2,935,000, respectively, for the property damage to certain of the Company's
communities, reported as casualty and impairment loss on the accompanying Condensed Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income. The charge for the nine months
ended September 30, 2025 relates to damage from a water pipe break at a community in Massachusetts. The charge for the nine months ended September 30, 2024 relates to
flooding and resulting water damage at communities in California from extensive rainfall and a fire at a community in New Jersey.

6.  Real Estate Disposition Activities

The following real estate sales occurred during the nine months ended September 30, 2025 (dollars in thousands):

Community name Location Period of sale Apartment homes Gross sales price
Gain (Loss) on
 disposition (1)

Commercial square
feet

Avalon Wilton on River Road Wilton, CT Q1 2025 102 $ 65,100  $ 56,476  — 
Avalon Wesmont Station I & II Wood-Ridge, NJ Q2 2025 406 161,500  99,636  18,000 
Avalon at Gallery Place Washington D.C. Q3 2025 203 87,100  63,026  9,000 
Avalon First and M Washington D.C. Q3 2025 469 181,750  41,499  4,000 
AVA NoMa Washington D.C. Q3 2025 438 142,480  31,051  7,000 
Avalon Brooklyn Bay Brooklyn, NY Q3 2025 180 74,500  (1,668) — 
Archstone Redmond Lakeview Redmond, WA Q3 2025 166 63,250  34,454  — 
AVA H Street Washington D.C. Q3 2025 138  36,000  12,175  — 

Total 2,102  $ 811,680  $ 336,649  38,000 

_________________________________
(1)    Gain (Loss) on disposition was reported in gain on sale of communities, net on the accompanying Condensed Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income.

At September 30, 2025, the Company had two real estate assets that qualified as held for sale.

7. Commitments and Contingencies

Legal Contingencies

The Company recognizes a loss associated with contingent legal matters when the loss is probable and estimable.

In 2022 and early 2023, the Company was named as a defendant in cases brought by private litigants alleging antitrust violations by RealPage, Inc. and owners and/or operators
of multifamily housing which utilize revenue management systems provided by RealPage, Inc. The Company engaged with the plaintiffs' counsel to explain why it believed
that these cases were without merit as they pertained to the Company. Following these discussions, the plaintiffs filed a notice of voluntary dismissal in July 2023, which
resulted in the Company being dismissed without prejudice from these cases. Subsequently, on November 1, 2023, the District of Columbia filed a lawsuit in the Superior Court
of the District of Columbia against RealPage, Inc. and a number of owners and/or operators of multifamily housing in the District of Columbia, including the Company,
alleging that the defendants violated the District of Columbia Antitrust Act by unlawfully agreeing to use RealPage, Inc. revenue management systems and sharing sensitive
data (the “D.C. Antitrust Litigation”). On May 29, 2024, the Superior Court granted the Company’s original motion to dismiss this case as it pertains to the Company. On
January 9, 2025, the District of Columbia filed an amended complaint in the D.C. Antitrust Litigation, which included the Company as a defendant, and the Company
subsequently filed a motion to dismiss the litigation as it pertains to the Company. On April 7, 2025, the Superior Court of the District of Columbia denied the Company's
motion to dismiss. On July 11, 2025, the Company filed a motion for judgment on
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the pleadings to dismiss the D.C. Antitrust Litigation as it pertains to the Company, which the court denied on September 23, 2025.

On January 15, 2025, the Office of the Attorney General of the State of Maryland filed a lawsuit similar to the D.C. Antitrust Litigation in the Circuit Court for Prince George’s
County, Maryland in which RealPage, Inc. and a number of owners and/or operators of multifamily properties in Maryland, including the Company, have been named and
alleged to have violated state antitrust law (the “Maryland Antitrust Litigation”). On February 28, 2025, the Company filed a motion to dismiss.

On April 23, 2025, the Attorney General of the State of New Jersey and the New Jersey Division of Consumer Affairs filed a lawsuit similar to the D.C. Antitrust Litigation and
the Maryland Antitrust Litigation in the U.S. District Court for the District of New Jersey. The lawsuit alleges that RealPage, Inc. and a number of owners and/or operators of
multifamily properties in New Jersey, including the Company, violated federal and state antitrust laws and the state consumer fraud law (the “New Jersey Antitrust Litigation”)
by unlawfully agreeing to use RealPage, Inc. revenue management systems and other related actions. On July 29, 2025, the Company filed a motion to dismiss.

While the Company intends to vigorously defend against the D.C. Antitrust Litigation, the Maryland Antitrust Litigation and the New Jersey Antitrust Litigation, given the early
stages of these lawsuits, the Company is unable to predict the outcome or estimate the amount of loss, if any, that may result from the lawsuits.

The Company is involved in various other claims and/or administrative proceedings that arise in the ordinary course of its business. While no assurances can be given, the
Company does not currently believe that any of these other outstanding litigation matters, individually or in the aggregate, will have a material adverse effect on its financial
condition or results of operations.

Lease Obligations

The Company owns seven apartment communities, two commercial properties and one development right located on land subject to ground leases expiring between July 2046
and May 2123. The Company has purchase options for all ground leases expiring prior to 2062. The ground leases for six of the seven apartment communities, the two
commercial properties and one development right are operating leases, with rental expense recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term. In addition, the Company is
party to 13 leases for its corporate and regional offices with varying terms through 2031, all of which are operating leases.

As of September 30, 2025 and December 31, 2024, the Company had total operating lease assets of $121,838,000 and $126,572,000, respectively, and lease obligations of
$147,928,000 and $153,333,000, respectively, reported as components of right of use lease assets and lease liabilities, respectively, on the accompanying Condensed
Consolidated Balance Sheets. The Company incurred costs of $3,794,000 and $4,166,000 for the three months ended September 30, 2025 and 2024, respectively, and
$11,565,000 and $12,543,000 for the nine months ended September 30, 2025 and 2024, respectively, related to operating leases.

The Company has one apartment community located on land subject to a ground lease and four leases for portions of parking garages adjacent to apartment communities that
are finance leases. As of September 30, 2025 and December 31, 2024, the Company had total finance lease assets of $27,756,000 and $28,082,000, respectively, and total
finance lease obligations of $19,898,000 and $19,949,000, respectively, reported as components of right of use lease assets and lease liabilities on the accompanying Condensed
Consolidated Balance Sheets.

8.  Segment Reporting

The Company's reportable operating segments include Same Store, Other Stabilized and Development/Redevelopment. Annually as of January 1, the Company determines
which of its communities fall into each of these categories and generally maintains that classification throughout the year for the purpose of reporting segment operations,
unless disposition or redevelopment plans regarding a community change. In addition, the Company owns land for future development and has other corporate assets that are
not allocated to an operating segment.

The Company's segment disclosures present the measure(s) used by the Chief Operating Decision Maker ("CODM") for assessing each segment's performance. The Company's
CODM is comprised of several members of its executive management team, including its Chief Executive Officer and President, Chief Financial Officer, Chief Investment
Officer, Chief Operating Officer, and Executive Vice President- Portfolio and Asset Management. The CODM uses net operating income ("NOI") as the primary financial
measure for Same Store communities and Other Stabilized communities. NOI is defined by the Company as
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total property revenue less direct property operating expenses (including property taxes), and excluding corporate-level income (including management, development and other
fees), property management and other indirect operating expenses, net of corporate income, expensed transaction, development and other pursuit costs, net of recoveries,
interest expense, net, loss on extinguishment of debt, net, general and administrative expense, income from unconsolidated investments, Structured Investment Program interest
income, depreciation expense, income tax expense (benefit), casualty and impairment loss, gain on sale of communities, net, other real estate activity and net operating income
from real estate assets sold or held for sale. The CODM evaluates the Company's financial performance on a consolidated residential and commercial basis. The commercial
results attributable to the non-apartment components of the Company's mixed-use communities and other nonresidential operations represent 1.5% and 1.6% of total NOI for
the three months ended September 30, 2025 and 2024, respectively, and 1.6% and 1.7% of total NOI for the nine months ended September 30, 2025 and 2024, respectively.
Although the Company considers NOI a useful measure of a community's or communities' operating performance, NOI should not be considered an alternative to net income or
net cash flow from operating activities, as determined in accordance with GAAP. NOI excludes a number of income and expense categories as detailed in the reconciliation of
NOI to net income and consistent with how the Company's CODM evaluates total NOI.

A reconciliation of NOI to net income for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2025 and 2024 is as follows (dollars in thousands):

  For the three months ended September 30, For the nine months ended September 30,
  2025 2024 2025 2024

Net income $ 384,162  $ 372,519  $ 890,614  $ 800,083 
Property management and other indirect operating expenses, net of corporate
income 37,194  40,149  111,447  112,906 
Expensed transaction, development and other pursuit costs, net of recoveries 1,392  1,573  8,629  7,235 
Interest expense, net 65,410  55,769  190,075  167,613 
General and administrative expense 22,028  20,089  64,805  60,006 
Income from unconsolidated investments (42,487) (25,250) (40,436) (33,845)
Structured Investment Program interest income (6,832) (5,470) (19,882) (12,544)
Depreciation expense 230,371  212,122  679,989  631,314 
Income tax (benefit) expense (193) 782  (840) 698 
Casualty and impairment loss —  —  858  2,935 
Gain on sale of communities, net (180,155) (172,973) (336,081) (241,459)
Other real estate activity (127) (314) (3,919) (636)
Net operating income from real estate assets sold or held for sale (6,987) (18,405) (33,736) (67,134)

        Net operating income $ 503,776  $ 480,591  $ 1,511,523  $ 1,427,172 

The following is a summary of NOI from real estate assets sold or held for sale for the periods presented (dollars in thousands):

For the three months ended September 30, For the nine months ended September 30,
2025 2024 2025 2024

 Rental income from real estate assets sold or held for sale $ 11,869  $ 27,620  $ 51,048  $ 99,698 
 Operating expenses from real estate assets sold or held for sale (4,882) (9,215) (17,312) (32,564)
Net operating income from real estate assets sold or held for sale $ 6,987  $ 18,405  $ 33,736  $ 67,134 

The primary performance measure for communities under development or redevelopment depends on the stage of completion. While under development, management monitors
actual construction costs against budgeted costs as well as lease-up pace and rent levels compared to budget.

The following table details the Company's segment information as of the dates specified (dollars in thousands). The segments are classified based on the individual
community's status at January 1, 2025. Segment information for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2025 and 2024 has been adjusted to exclude the real estate
assets that were sold from January 1, 2024 through September 30, 2025, or otherwise qualify as held for sale as of September 30, 2025, as described in Note 6, "Real Estate
Disposition Activities."
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For the three months ended September 30, 2025
Same Store Other Stabilized Development / Redevelopment Total (1) (2)

Total Revenue $ 691,925  $ 47,470  $ 13,662  $ 753,057 
Same Store Operating Expense

Property Taxes (80,239) (80,239)
Payroll (39,981) (39,981)
Repairs & Maintenance (45,002) (45,002)
Utilities (29,616) (29,616)
Office Operations (15,318) (15,318)
Insurance (10,543) (10,543)
Marketing (4,729) (4,729)

Same Store Operating Expense (225,428) —  —  (225,428)
Non-Same Store Operating Expense —  (17,424) (6,429) (23,853)
Total Expenses (225,428) (17,424) (6,429) (249,281)
Total NOI $ 466,497  $ 30,046  $ 7,233  $ 503,776 
Gross Real Estate $ 23,917,199  $ 2,554,861  $ 2,299,123  $ 28,771,183 

For the three months ended September 30, 2024
Same Store Other Stabilized Development / Redevelopment Total (1) (2)

Total Revenue $ 676,350  $ 25,710  $ 2,911  $ 704,971 
Same Store Operating Expense

Property Taxes (77,537) (77,537)
Payroll (38,055) (38,055)
Repairs & Maintenance (42,069) (42,069)
Utilities (27,756) (27,756)
Office Operations (15,389) (15,389)
Insurance (10,014) (10,014)
Marketing (4,539) (4,539)

Same Store Operating Expense (215,359) —  —  (215,359)
Non-Same Store Operating Expense —  (7,362) (1,659) (9,021)
Total Expenses (215,359) (7,362) (1,659) (224,380)
Total NOI $ 460,991  $ 18,348  $ 1,252  $ 480,591 
Gross Real Estate $ 23,647,850  $ 1,424,889  $ 1,291,783  $ 26,364,522 

For the nine months ended September 30, 2025
Same Store Other Stabilized Development / Redevelopment Total (1) (2)

Total Revenue $ 2,064,565  $ 122,330  $ 29,722  $ 2,216,617 
Same Store Operating Expense

Property Taxes (233,574) —  —  (233,574)
Payroll (118,143) —  —  (118,143)
Repairs & Maintenance (120,793) —  —  (120,793)
Utilities (83,929) —  —  (83,929)
Office Operations (46,755) —  —  (46,755)
Insurance (30,707) —  —  (30,707)
Marketing (13,128) —  —  (13,128)

Same Store Operating Expense (647,029) —  —  (647,029)
Non-Same Store Operating Expense —  (42,891) (15,174) (58,065)
Total Expenses (647,029) (42,891) (15,174) (705,094)
Total NOI $ 1,417,536  $ 79,439  $ 14,548  $ 1,511,523 
Gross Real Estate $ 23,917,199  $ 2,554,861  $ 2,299,123  $ 28,771,183 
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For the nine months ended September 30, 2024
Same Store Other Stabilized Development / Redevelopment Total (1) (2)

Total Revenue $ 2,009,849  $ 53,546  $ 4,773  $ 2,068,168 
Same Store Operating Expense

Property Taxes (228,286) —  —  (228,286)
Payroll (113,908) —  —  (113,908)
Repairs & Maintenance (112,190) —  —  (112,190)
Utilities (79,194) —  —  (79,194)
Office Operations (46,597) —  —  (46,597)
Insurance (29,449) —  —  (29,449)
Marketing (11,595) —  —  (11,595)

Same Store Operating Expense (621,219) —  —  (621,219)
Non-Same Store Operating Expense —  (16,558) (3,219) (19,777)
Total Expenses (621,219) (16,558) (3,219) (640,996)
Total NOI $ 1,388,630  $ 36,988  $ 1,554  $ 1,427,172 
Gross Real Estate $ 23,647,850  $ 1,424,889  $ 1,291,783  $ 26,364,522 

__________________________________
(1) Does not include non-allocated revenue. Non-allocated revenue represents third-party property management, developer fees and miscellaneous income and other ancillary items which

are not allocated to a reportable segment. Non-allocated revenue was $1,870 and $1,716 for the three months ended September 30, 2025 and 2024, respectively, and $5,204 and $5,342
for the nine months ended September 30, 2025 and 2024, respectively.

(2)        Does not include non-allocated gross real estate and land held for development. Non-allocated gross real estate is $115,326 and $119,575 as of September  30, 2025 and 2024,
respectively. Land held for development gross real estate was $126,050 and $154,906 as of September 30, 2025 and 2024, respectively.

9.  Stock-Based Compensation Plans

As part of its long-term compensation plans, the Company has granted stock options, performance awards and restricted stock under the Plan. Details of the outstanding awards
and activity under the Plan for the nine months ended September 30, 2025 are presented below.

Stock Options:

Options
Weighted average exercise

price per option
Options Outstanding at December 31, 2024 270,862  $ 181.84 

Granted (1) 9,473  221.58 
Exercised (8,759) 180.32 
Forfeited —  — 
Expired —  — 

Options Outstanding at September 30, 2025 271,576  $ 183.28 

Options Exercisable at September 30, 2025 249,486  $ 182.29 

__________________________________
(1) All options are from recipient elections to receive a portion of earned restricted stock awards in the form of stock options.

Performance Awards:

Performance awards
Weighted average grant date fair value

per award
Outstanding at December 31, 2024 250,123  $ 207.55 

  Granted (1) 78,937  222.96 
  Change in awards based on performance (2) 34,016  257.33 
  Converted to shares of common stock (103,332) 254.95 
  Forfeited (2,747) 200.94 

Outstanding at September 30, 2025 256,997  $ 199.88 

__________________________________
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(1) The shares of common stock that may be earned is based on the total shareholder return metrics for the Company's common stock for 43,418 performance awards and financial metrics
related to operating performance and leverage metrics of the Company for 35,519 performance awards.

(2) Represents the change in the number of performance awards earned based on performance achievement.

The Company used a Monte Carlo model to assess the compensation cost associated with the portion of the performance awards granted for which achievement will be
determined by using total shareholder return measures. The assumptions used are as follows:

2025
Dividend yield 3.2%
Estimated volatility over the life of the plan (1) 20.4% - 21.6%
Risk free rate 4.00% - 4.01%
Estimated performance award value based on total shareholder return measure $224.11

__________________________________
(1) Estimated volatility over the life of the plan is using 50% historical volatility and 50% implied volatility.

For the portion of the performance awards granted in 2025 for which achievement will be determined by using financial metrics, the compensation cost was based on an
average grant date value of $221.58.

Restricted Stock:

Restricted stock shares
Weighted average grant date fair

value per share
Outstanding at December 31, 2024 182,382  $ 182.59 
  Granted 79,483  221.40 
  Vested (88,304) 191.94 
  Forfeited (2,681) 196.89 
Outstanding at September 30, 2025 170,880  $ 195.59 

Total employee stock-based compensation cost recognized in income was $21,394,000 and $20,338,000 for the nine months ended September 30, 2025 and 2024, respectively,
and total capitalized stock-based compensation cost was $9,720,000 and $9,183,000 for the nine months ended September 30, 2025 and 2024, respectively. At September 30,
2025, there was a total unrecognized compensation cost of $34,649,000 for unvested restricted stock, stock options and performance awards, which is expected to be
recognized over a weighted average period of 1.9 years. The Company reverses any previously recognized compensation cost for forfeitures as they occur.

10.  Related Party Arrangements

Unconsolidated Entities

The Company manages unconsolidated real estate entities and provides other real estate related services to third parties, for which it receives asset management, property
management, construction, development and redevelopment fee revenue. From these entities, the Company earned fees of $1,870,000 and $1,716,000 for the three months
ended September 30, 2025 and 2024, respectively, and $5,204,000 and $5,342,000 for the nine months ended September 30, 2025 and 2024. In addition, the Company had
outstanding receivables associated with its property and construction management roles of $1,039,000 and $1,680,000 as of September  30, 2025 and December  31, 2024,
respectively.

Director Compensation

The Company recorded non-employee director compensation expense relating to restricted stock grants and deferred stock units in the amount of $626,000 and $599,000 for
the three months ended September 30, 2025 and 2024, respectively, and $1,818,000 and $1,798,000 for the nine months ended September 30, 2025 and 2024, respectively, as a
component of general and administrative expense. Deferred compensation relating to these restricted stock grants and deferred stock units to non-employee directors was
$1,329,000 and $786,000 on September 30, 2025 and December 31, 2024, respectively, reported as a component of prepaid expenses and other assets on the accompanying
Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets.
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11.  Fair Value

Financial Instruments Carried at Fair Value

Derivative Financial Instruments

Hedging Derivatives are carried at fair value in the Company's financial statements. The Company minimizes its credit risk on these transactions by dealing with major,
creditworthy financial institutions which have an A or better credit rating by the Standard  & Poor's Ratings Group or equivalent, and monitors the credit ratings of
counterparties and the exposure of the Company to any single entity. The Company believes the likelihood of realizing losses from counterparty nonperformance is remote. The
Company determined that the majority of the inputs used to value its derivatives fall within Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy, such as interest rate, term to maturity and
volatility. The Hedging Derivatives credit valuation adjustments associated with its derivatives use Level 3 inputs, such as estimates of current credit spreads, which the
Company concluded are not significant. As a result, the Company determined that its derivative valuations are classified in Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.

The following table summarizes the consolidated derivative positions at September 30, 2025 (dollars in thousands):

Non-designated Hedges Cash Flow Hedges
Interest Rate Caps Interest Rate Swaps

Notional balance $ 391,846 $ 550,000
Weighted average interest rate (1) 4.5 % N/A
Weighted average capped/swapped interest rate 6.7 % 3.5 %
Earliest maturity date February 2026 April 2029
Latest maturity date January 2027 April 2029

____________________________________
(1) For debt hedged by interest rate caps, represents the weighted average interest rate on the hedged debt prior to any impact of the associated interest rate caps.

During the three and nine months ended September  30, 2025, the Company entered into interest rate swap agreements with a notional amount of $100,000,000 and
$550,000,000, respectively, to reduce the impact of variability in interest rates on the Term Loan entered into in April 2025, which the Company expects to remain outstanding
through maturity of the Term Loan.

During the nine months ended September 30, 2025, in connection with the issuance of the Company's $400,000,000 unsecured notes in July 2025 maturing in August 2035, the
Company terminated $200,000,000 of interest rate swap agreements designated as cash flow hedges of the interest rate variability on the issuance of the unsecured notes,
receiving payments of $4,099,000 in July 2025 which will be recognized over the life of the unsecured notes as a reduction in the effective interest rate. Of the $200,000,000
forward interest rate swap agreements terminated, $100,000,000 were entered into during the nine months ended September 30, 2025. The Company has deferred these gains in
accumulated other comprehensive income on the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets, and is recognizing the impact as a component of interest expense, net, over the
term of the respective hedged debt.

The Company had certain derivatives not designated as hedges during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2025 and 2024, for which fair value changes during each
of the respective periods were not material.

The Company anticipates reclassifying approximately $2,060,000 of net hedging gains from accumulated other comprehensive income into earnings within the next 12 months
as an offset to the hedged item during this period.

Financial Instruments Not Carried at Fair Value

Cash, Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash

Cash, cash equivalent and restricted cash balances are held with various financial institutions within accounts designed to preserve principal. The Company monitors credit
ratings of these financial institutions and the concentration of cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash balances with any one financial institution and believes the likelihood of
realizing material losses related to cash, cash equivalent and restricted cash balances is remote. Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash are carried at their face amounts,
which reasonably approximate their fair values and are Level 1 within the fair value hierarchy.
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Other Financial Instruments

Rents and other receivables and prepaid expenses, accounts and construction payable and accrued expenses and other liabilities are carried at their face amounts, which
reasonably approximate their fair values. The Company determined that its notes receivables approximate fair value, because interest rates, yields and other terms are consistent
with interest rates, yields and other terms currently available for similar instruments and are considered to be a Level 2 price within the fair value hierarchy.

Equity Securities

The Company has direct equity investments in third-party property technology and sustainability focused companies. These investments are accounted for using the
measurement alternative and are valued at the market price of observable transactions. During the three months ended September 30, 2025 and 2024, the Company recognized
unrealized gains of $42,350,000 and $25,261,000, respectively, and unrealized gains of $39,905,000 and $34,822,000 during the nine months ended September 30, 2025 and
2024, respectively, related to these investments, which was reported as a component of income from unconsolidated investments on the accompanying Condensed Consolidated
Statements of Comprehensive Income. The Company has recorded cumulative fair value adjustments of $74,105,000 for unrealized gains related to equity securities.

Indebtedness

The Company values its fixed rate unsecured notes using quoted market prices, a Level 1 price within the fair value hierarchy. The Company values its mortgage notes payable,
the Term Loan and any outstanding amounts under the Credit Facility and Commercial Paper Program using a discounted cash flow analysis on the expected cash flows of each
instrument. This analysis reflects the contractual terms of the instrument, including the period to maturity, and uses observable market-based inputs, including interest rate
curves. The process also considers credit valuation adjustments to appropriately reflect the Company's nonperformance risk. The Company has concluded that the value of its
mortgage notes payable, Term Loan and any outstanding amounts under the Credit Facility and Commercial Paper Program are Level 2 prices as the majority of the inputs used
to value its positions fall within Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.

Financial Instruments Measured/Disclosed at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis

The following tables summarize the classification between the three levels of the fair value hierarchy of the Company's financial instruments measured/disclosed at fair value
on a recurring basis (dollars in thousands):

September 30, 2025

Description Total Fair Value

Quoted Prices
in Active

Markets for
Identical Assets

(Level 1)

Significant
Other

Observable Inputs
(Level 2)

Significant
Unobservable Inputs

(Level 3)

Assets
Investments

Notes Receivable, net $ 263,605  $ —  $ 263,605  $ — 
Total Assets $ 263,605  $ —  $ 263,605  $ — 

Liabilities
Interest Rate Swaps - Liabilities $ 4,457  $ —  $ 4,457  $ — 
Indebtedness

Fixed rate unsecured notes 6,900,534  6,900,534  —  — 
Mortgage notes payable and Commercial Paper Program 1,457,933  —  1,457,933  — 

Total Liabilities $ 8,362,924  $ 6,900,534  $ 1,462,390  $ — 
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December 31, 2024

Description Total Fair Value

Quoted Prices
in Active

Markets for
Identical Asset

(Level 1)

Significant
Other

Observable Inputs
(Level 2)

Significant
Unobservable Inputs

(Level 3)

Assets
Investments

Notes Receivable, net $ 223,896  $ —  $ 223,896  $ — 
Non-designated Hedges

Interest Rate Caps 24  —  24  — 
Interest Rate Swaps - Assets 6,821  —  6,821  — 
Total Assets $ 230,741  $ —  $ 230,741  $ — 

Liabilities
Indebtedness

Fixed rate unsecured notes $ 6,796,066  $ 6,796,066  $ —  $ — 
Mortgage notes payable and Commercial Paper Program 660,170  —  660,170  — 

Total Liabilities $ 7,456,236  $ 6,796,066  $ 660,170  $ — 

12.  Subsequent Events

The Company has evaluated subsequent events through the date on which this Form 10-Q was filed, the date on which these financial statements were issued, and identified the
items below for discussion.

In October and November 2025 through the date this Form 10-Q was filed, the Company had the following activity:

• In October 2025, the Company reached a construction milestone at Avalon Mission Valley, a development community in San Diego, CA that is subject to a ground
lease for which the Company has a completion guaranty. The construction milestone activated the guaranty, obligating the Company to complete construction of the
community and certain off-site infrastructure improvements prior to May 2030. The Company expects to complete construction in Q1 2029 for an estimated total
capital cost of $302,000,000.

• In October 2025, the Company acquired Avalon Townhome Collection Brier Creek, located in Durham, NC, containing 93 townhomes for a purchase price of
$36,500,000.

• In October 2025, the Company terminated the 2020 Stock Repurchase Program and adopted a new stock repurchase program under which the Company may acquire
shares of its common stock in open market or negotiated transactions up to an aggregate purchase price of $500,000,000 (the "2025 Stock Repurchase Program").
Purchases of common stock under the 2025 Stock Repurchase Program may occur from time to time at the Company’s discretion. The timing and actual number of
shares repurchased will depend on a variety of factors including price, corporate and regulatory requirements, market conditions and other corporate liquidity
requirements and priorities. The 2025 Stock Repurchase Program does not have an expiration date and may be suspended or terminated at any time without prior
notice. Through the date of this Form 10-Q, the Company repurchased 219,289 shares of common stock at an average price of $174.00 per share, including fees, for a
total of $38,157,000 under the 2025 Stock Repurchase Program.
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ITEM 2.    MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations ("MD&A") is intended to help provide an understanding of our business, financial
condition and results of operations. This MD&A should be read in conjunction with our Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements and the accompanying Notes to
Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements included elsewhere in this report. This report, including the following MD&A, contains forward-looking statements regarding
future events or trends that should be read in conjunction with the factors described under "Forward-Looking Statements" included in this report.  Actual results or
developments could differ materially from those projected in such statements as a result of the factors described under "Forward-Looking Statements" as well as the risk factors
described in Part I, Item 1A. "Risk Factors" of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2024 (the "Form 10-K") and in Part II, Item 1A. "Risk
Factors" in this report.

Capitalized terms used without definition have the meanings provided elsewhere in this Form 10-Q.

Executive Overview

Business Description

AvalonBay Communities, Inc. (the “Company,” “we,” “our” and “us” which terms, unless the context otherwise requires, refer to AvalonBay Communities, Inc. together with
its subsidiaries), is a Maryland corporation that has elected to be treated as a real estate investment trust (“REIT”) for federal income tax purposes. We develop, redevelop,
acquire, own and operate apartment communities in New England, the New York/New Jersey metro area, the Mid-Atlantic, the Pacific Northwest, and Northern and Southern
California, as well as in our expansion regions of Raleigh-Durham and Charlotte, North Carolina, Southeast Florida, Dallas and Austin, Texas, and Denver, Colorado. We focus
on leading metropolitan areas that we believe are generally characterized by growing employment in high wage sectors of the economy, higher cost of home ownership and a
diverse and vibrant quality of life. We believe these market characteristics have offered, and will continue to offer, the opportunity for superior risk-adjusted returns over the
long-term on apartment community investments relative to other markets that do not have these characteristics.

Our principal financial goal is to increase long-term shareholder value through the development, redevelopment, acquisition, ownership, operation and asset management and,
when appropriate, disposition of apartment communities in our markets. To help meet this goal, we regularly (i) monitor our investment allocation by geographic market and
product type, (ii) develop, redevelop and acquire interests in apartment communities in our selected markets, (iii) efficiently operate our communities to maximize resident
satisfaction and shareholder return, (iv) selectively sell apartment communities that no longer meet our long term strategy or when opportunities are presented to realize a
portion of the value created through our investment and redeploy the proceeds from those sales and (v) maintain a capital structure that we believe is aligned with our business
risks and allows us to maintain continuous access to cost-effective capital. We pursue our development, redevelopment, investment and operating activities with the purpose of
“Creating a Better Way to Live.”

Third Quarter 2025 Operating Highlights

• Net income attributable to common stockholders for the three months ended September 30, 2025 was $381,306,000, an increase of $8,787,000, or 2.4%, from the prior
year period. The increase was primarily attributable to a net increase in unrealized gains on property technology investments, an increase in NOI from communities
over the prior year period, and increases in real estate sales and related gains.

• Same Store NOI attributable to our apartment rental operations, including parking and other ancillary residential ("Residential") revenue, for the three months ended
September 30, 2025 was $461,048,000, an increase of $5,189,000, or 1.1%, over the prior year period. The increase over the prior year period was due to an increase
in Residential revenue of $15,100,000, or 2.3%, partially offset by an increase in Residential property operating expenses of $9,911,000, or 4.6%.

Third Quarter 2025 Development Highlights

At September 30, 2025, we owned or held a direct or indirect interest in:

• 21 wholly-owned communities under construction, which are expected to contain 7,806 apartment homes with a projected total capitalized cost of $3,012,000,000.
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• Land or rights to land on which we expect to develop an additional 34 apartment communities that, if developed as expected, will contain 9,381 apartment homes.

Third Quarter 2025 Real Estate Transactions Highlights

During the three months ended September 30, 2025, we had the following activity:

• We acquired three wholly-owned communities containing 584 apartment homes for an aggregate purchase price of $186,950,000.

• We acquired our joint venture partner's 50% interest in Avalon Alderwood Place, a 328 apartment home community in Lynnwood, WA, for a purchase price of
$71,250,000. With the buyout of the joint venture partner's interest, Avalon Alderwood Place is now a wholly owned apartment community and consolidated for
financial reporting purposes.

• We sold six wholly-owned communities containing 1,594 apartment homes and 20,000 square feet of commercial space, for $585,080,000, for a gain in accordance
with GAAP of $180,537,000.

In addition, in October 2025, we acquired Avalon Townhome Collection Brier Creek, located in Durham, NC, containing 93 townhomes for a purchase price of $36,500,000.

Communities Overview

Our real estate investments consist primarily of current operating apartment communities ("Current Communities"), consolidated and unconsolidated communities in various
stages of development ("Development" communities and "Unconsolidated Development" communities) and Development Rights (as defined below). Our Current Communities
are further classified as Same Store communities, Other Stabilized communities, Redevelopment communities and Unconsolidated communities. While we generally establish
the classification of communities on an annual basis, we update the classification of communities during the calendar year to the extent that our plans with regard to the
disposition or redevelopment of a community change, or if something occurs that materially impacts the operations of a community such as a casualty loss. The following is a
description of each category:

Current Communities are categorized as Same Store, Other Stabilized, Redevelopment, or Unconsolidated according to the following attributes:

• Same Store is composed of consolidated communities where a comparison of operating results from the prior year to the current year is meaningful as these
communities were owned and had stabilized occupancy as of the beginning of the prior year period. For the nine month periods ended September 30, 2025 and
2024, Same Store communities are consolidated for financial reporting purposes, had stabilized occupancy as of January 1, 2024, are not conducting or are not
probable to conduct substantial redevelopment activities and are not held for sale as of September 30, 2025 or probable for disposition to unrelated third parties
within the current year. A community is considered to have stabilized occupancy at the earlier of (i) attainment of 90% physical occupancy or (ii) the one-year
anniversary of completion of development or redevelopment.

• Other Stabilized is composed of completed consolidated communities that we own and that are not Same Store but which have stabilized occupancy, as defined
above, as of January 1, 2025, or which were acquired subsequent to January 1, 2024. Other Stabilized excludes communities that are conducting or are probable to
conduct substantial redevelopment activities within the current year, as defined below.

• Redevelopment is composed of consolidated communities where substantial redevelopment occurred, is in progress, or is probable to begin during the fiscal year.
Redevelopment is considered substantial when (i) capital invested is expected to exceed the lesser of $5,000,000 or 10% of the community's pre-redevelopment
basis and (ii) physical occupancy is below or is expected to be below 90% during, or as a result of, the redevelopment activity.

• Unconsolidated is composed of communities that we have an indirect ownership interest in through our investment interest in an unconsolidated joint venture.
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Development is composed of consolidated communities that are either currently under construction, were under construction and were completed during the current year or
where construction has been complete for less than one year and that do not have stabilized occupancy. These communities may be partially or fully complete and operating.

Unconsolidated Development is composed of communities that are either currently under construction, or were under construction and were completed during the current year,
in which we have an indirect ownership interest through our investment interest in an unconsolidated joint venture. These communities may be partially or fully complete and
operating.

Development Rights are development opportunities in the early phase of the development process where we either have an option to acquire land or enter into a leasehold
interest, where we are the buyer under a long-term conditional contract to purchase land, where we control the land through a ground lease or own land to develop a new
community, or where we are the designated developer in a public-private partnership. We capitalize related pre-development costs incurred in pursuit of new developments for
which we currently believe future development is probable.

We currently lease our corporate headquarters located in Arlington, Virginia, as well as our other regional and administrative offices, under operating leases.

As of September 30, 2025, communities that we owned or held a direct or indirect interest in were classified as follows:

Number of
communities

Number of
apartment homes

Current Communities    

Same Store:    
New England 38  9,535 
Metro NY/NJ 40  12,643 
Mid-Atlantic 38  13,714 
Southeast Florida 8  2,837 
Denver, CO 6  1,539 
Pacific Northwest 17  4,943 
Northern California 38  11,803 
Southern California 58  17,798 
Other Expansion Regions 9  2,512 

Total Same Store 252  77,324 

Other Stabilized:    
New England 1  162 
Metro NY/NJ 2  559 
Mid-Atlantic 1  234 
Southeast Florida 2  524 
Denver, CO 2  653 
Pacific Northwest 4  1,049 
Northern California 2  742 
Southern California 1  100 
Other Expansion Regions 12  3,663 

Total Other Stabilized 27  7,686 

Redevelopment —  — 

Unconsolidated 8  2,394 

Total Current 287  87,404 

Development 27  9,815 

Unconsolidated Development —  — 

Total Communities 314  97,219 

Development Rights 34  9,381 
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Results of Operations

Our results of operations are driven by our operating platform and are primarily affected by both overall and individual geographic market conditions and apartment
fundamentals and are reflected in changes in Same Store NOI; NOI derived from acquisitions, development completions and development under construction and in lease-up;
loss of NOI related to disposed communities; and capital market and financing activity.  A comparison of our operating results for the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2025 and 2024 is as follows (unaudited, dollars in thousands).

  For the three months ended September 30, For the nine months ended September 30,
  2025 2024 2025 2024

Revenue:    
Rental and other income $ 764,926  $ 732,591  $ 2,267,665  $ 2,167,866 
Management, development and other fees 1,870  1,716  5,204  5,342 

Total revenue 766,796  734,307  2,272,869  2,173,208 

Expenses:    
Direct property operating expenses, excluding property taxes 164,414  151,145  464,794  430,256 
Property taxes 89,749  82,419  257,611  243,255 

Total community operating expenses 254,163  233,564  722,405  673,511 

Property management and other indirect operating expenses (39,064) (41,896) (116,652) (118,297)
Expensed transaction, development and other pursuit costs, net of recoveries (1,392) (1,573) (8,629) (7,235)
Interest expense, net (65,410) (55,769) (190,075) (167,613)
Depreciation expense (230,371) (212,122) (679,989) (631,314)
General and administrative expense (22,028) (20,089) (64,805) (60,006)
Casualty and impairment loss —  —  (858) (2,935)
Income from unconsolidated investments 42,487  25,250  40,436  33,845 
Structured Investment Program interest income 6,832  5,470  19,882  12,544 
Gain on sale of communities, net 180,155  172,973  336,081  241,459 
Other real estate activity 127  314  3,919  636 

Income before income taxes 383,969  373,301  889,774  800,781 
Income tax benefit (expense) 193  (782) 840  (698)

Net income 384,162  372,519  890,614  800,083 

Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests (2,856) —  (4,046) (181)

Net income attributable to common stockholders $ 381,306  $ 372,519  $ 886,568  $ 799,902 

Net income attributable to common stockholders increased $8,787,000, or 2.4%, to $381,306,000 and $86,666,000, or 10.8%, to $886,568,000 for the three and nine months
ended September 30, 2025, respectively, as compared to the prior year periods, primarily due to a net increase in unrealized gains on property technology investments, an
increase in NOI from communities over the prior year period, and increases in real estate sales and related gains.
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NOI. We define NOI as total property revenue less direct property operating expenses (including property taxes), and excluding corporate-level income (including management,
development and other fees), property management and other indirect operating expenses, net of corporate income, expensed transaction, development and other pursuit costs,
net of recoveries, interest expense, net, loss on extinguishment of debt, net, general and administrative expense, income from unconsolidated investments, Structured
Investment Program interest income, depreciation expense, income tax expense (benefit), casualty and impairment loss, gain on sale of communities, net, other real estate
activity and net operating income from real estate assets sold or held for sale. Management considers NOI to be an important and appropriate supplemental performance
measure to net income because it helps both investors and management to understand the core operations of a community or communities prior to the allocation of any
corporate-level property management overhead or financing-related costs. NOI reflects the operating performance of a community and allows for an easier comparison of the
operating performance of individual assets or groups of assets. In addition, because prospective buyers of real estate have different financing and overhead structures, with
varying marginal impact to overhead as a result of acquiring real estate, NOI is considered by many in the real estate industry to be a useful measure for determining the value
of a real estate asset or group of assets.

NOI does not represent cash generated from operating activities in accordance with GAAP, and NOI should not be considered an alternative to net income as an indication of
our performance. NOI should also not be considered an alternative to net cash flow from operating activities, as determined by GAAP, as a measure of liquidity, nor is NOI
indicative of cash available to fund cash needs.  Residential NOI represents results attributable to our apartment rental operations, including parking and other ancillary
residential revenue. Reconciliations of NOI and Residential NOI for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2025 and 2024 to net income for each period are as follows
(unaudited, dollars in thousands):

 

For the three months ended September 30, For the nine months ended September 30,

 

2025 2024 2025 2024

Net income $ 384,162  $ 372,519  $ 890,614  $ 800,083 
Property management and other indirect operating expenses, net of corporate income 37,194  40,149  111,447  112,906 
Expensed transaction, development and other pursuit costs, net of recoveries 1,392  1,573  8,629  7,235 
Interest expense, net 65,410  55,769  190,075  167,613 
General and administrative expense 22,028  20,089  64,805  60,006 
Income from unconsolidated investments (42,487) (25,250) (40,436) (33,845)
Structured Investment Program interest income (6,832) (5,470) (19,882) (12,544)
Depreciation expense 230,371  212,122  679,989  631,314 
Income tax (benefit) expense (193) 782  (840) 698 
Casualty and impairment loss —  —  858  2,935 
Gain on sale of communities, net (180,155) (172,973) (336,081) (241,459)
Other real estate activity (127) (314) (3,919) (636)
Net operating income from real estate assets sold or held for sale (6,987) (18,405) (33,736) (67,134)

NOI 503,776  480,591  1,511,523  1,427,172 

Commercial NOI (1) (7,403) (7,537) (24,475) (23,573)
Residential NOI $ 496,373  $ 473,054  $ 1,487,048  $ 1,403,599 

_________________________
(1) Represents results attributable to the commercial and other non-residential operations at our communities ("Commercial").
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The Residential NOI changes for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2025 compared to the three and nine months ended September 30, 2024 consist of changes in
the following categories (unaudited, dollars in thousands):

For the three months ended September 30, For the nine months ended September 30,

 

2025 2024
Increase/

(Decrease) 2025 2024
Increase/

(Decrease)

   
Same Store $ 461,048  $ 455,859  $ 5,189  $ 1,400,202  $ 1,371,164  $ 29,038 
Other Stabilized 28,355  15,980  12,375  73,139  30,919  42,220 
Development / Redevelopment 6,970  1,215  5,755  13,707  1,516  12,191 

Total $ 496,373  $ 473,054  $ 23,319  $ 1,487,048  $ 1,403,599  $ 83,449 

The 1.1% increase in our Same Store Residential NOI for the three months ended September 30, 2025 is due to an increase in Residential revenue of $15,100,000, or 2.3%,
partially offset by an increase in Residential property operating expenses of $9,911,000, or 4.6%, over the prior year period. The 2.1% increase in our Same Store Residential
NOI for the nine months ended September 30, 2025 is due to an increase in Residential revenue of $54,483,000, or 2.7%, partially offset by an increase in Residential property
operating expenses of $25,445,000, or 4.1%, over the prior year period.

Rental and other income increased $32,335,000, or 4.4%, and $99,799,000, or 4.6%, for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2025, respectively, compared to the
prior year periods, due to an increase in rental revenue from our stabilized operating communities, discussed below.

Consolidated Communities — The weighted average number of occupied apartment homes for consolidated communities increased to 82,437 apartment homes for the
nine months ended September 30, 2025, compared to 79,593 homes for the prior year period. The weighted average monthly residential revenue per occupied apartment
home increased to $3,073 for the nine months ended September 30, 2025, compared to $3,020 in the prior year period.

Same Store Communities — The following table presents the change in Same Store Residential revenue, including the attribution of the change between average revenue
per occupied home and Economic Occupancy (as defined below) for the nine months ended September 30, 2025 (unaudited, dollars in thousands).

For the nine months ended September 30,

2025 2024
2025 to

2024
2025 to

2024 2025 2024
2025 to

2024 2025 2024
2025 to

2024

Residential revenue
Average monthly revenue per occupied

home Economic Occupancy (1)
$ Change % Change % Change % Change

New England $ 284,452  $ 277,220  $ 7,232  2.6 % $ 3,438  $ 3,348  2.7 % 96.4 % 96.5 % (0.1)%
Metro NY/NJ 417,797  405,527  12,270  3.0 % 3,823  3,732  2.4 % 96.1 % 95.5 % 0.6 %
Mid-Atlantic 304,154  292,388  11,766  4.0 % 2,581  2,481  4.0 % 95.5 % 95.5 % — %
Southeast Florida 71,788  71,846  (58) (0.1)% 2,903  2,900  0.1 % 96.8 % 97.0 % (0.2)%
Denver, CO 30,627  30,493  134  0.4 % 2,340  2,325  0.6 % 94.5 % 94.7 % (0.2)%
Pacific Northwest 123,998  119,404  4,594  3.8 % 2,891  2,782  3.9 % 96.4 % 96.5 % (0.1)%
Northern California 318,649  311,019  7,630  2.5 % 3,122  3,056  2.2 % 96.1 % 95.8 % 0.3 %
Southern California 451,307  441,261  10,046  2.3 % 2,939  2,867  2.5 % 95.9 % 96.1 % (0.2)%
Other Expansion Regions 41,116  40,247  869  2.2 % 1,906  1,916  (0.5)% 95.4 % 92.7 % 2.7 %
Total Same Store $ 2,043,888  $ 1,989,405  $ 54,483  2.7 % $ 3,060  $ 2,982  2.6 % 96.0 % 95.9 % 0.1 %

_________________________________
(1) Economic Occupancy is defined as gross potential revenue less vacancy loss, as a percentage of gross potential revenue. Gross potential revenue is determined by valuing occupied

homes at contract rates and vacant homes at market rents. Vacancy loss is determined by valuing vacant units at current market rents. Economic Occupancy considers that
apartment homes of different sizes and locations within a community have different economic impacts on a community's gross revenue.

Direct property operating expenses, excluding property taxes, increased $13,269,000, or 8.8%, and $34,538,000, or 8.0%, for the three and nine months ended September 30,
2025, respectively, compared to the prior year periods, primarily due to the
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addition of newly developed and acquired apartment communities as well as increased Residential operating expenses at our Same Store communities as discussed below.

Same Store Residential direct property operating expenses, excluding property taxes, increased $7,199,000, or 5.2%, and $20,173,000, or 5.1%, for the three and nine
months ended September 30, 2025, respectively, compared to the prior year periods, primarily due to increased (i) repairs and maintenance costs, (ii) utility costs,
including from our bulk internet offering, the costs for which are more than offset by the associated bulk internet revenue included as a component of rental and other
income and (iii) payroll costs primarily from increased employee benefit costs, growth in average salaries and bonus achievement.

Property taxes increased $7,330,000, or 8.9%, and $14,356,000, or 5.9%, for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2025, respectively, compared to the prior year
periods, primarily due to the addition of newly developed and acquired apartment communities and increases for our Same Store Residential portfolio, partially offset by
decreased property taxes from dispositions.

Same Store Residential property taxes increased $2,712,000, or 3.5%, and $5,272,000, or 2.3%, for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2025, respectively,
compared to the prior year periods, due to increased assessments across the portfolio and the expiration of property tax incentive programs primarily at certain of our
properties in New York City, partially offset by decreased tax rates and/or successful tax appeals at certain of our properties in the current year period in excess of the
prior year period.

Property management and other indirect operating expenses, net of corporate income decreased $2,832,000, or 6.8%, and $1,645,000, or 1.4%, for the three and nine months
ended September  30, 2025, respectively, compared to the prior year periods, due to decreased advocacy costs partially offset by increased costs related to investments in
technology and process related spend for initiatives to improve future efficiency in services for residents and prospects, as well as higher compensation.

Expensed transaction, development and other pursuit costs, net of recoveries includes costs incurred for write downs and abandonment of Development Rights and
development pursuits not yet considered probable for development, as well as costs related to abandoned acquisition and disposition pursuits, offset by any recoveries of costs
incurred. In periods of increased acquisition and pursuit activity, periods of economic downturn or when there is limited access to capital, these costs can be volatile and may
vary significantly from year to year. In addition, the timing for potential recoveries will not always align with the timing for expensing an abandoned pursuit. Expensed
transaction, development and other pursuit costs, net of recoveries, was $1,392,000 and $8,629,000 for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2025, respectively, and
$1,573,000 and $7,235,000 for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2024, respectively. The amounts for the nine months ended September 30, 2025 and 2024
include a write-off of $3,668,000 and $1,600,000, respectively, for one development opportunity in each year that we determined is no longer probable.

Interest expense, net increased $9,641,000, or 17.3%, and $22,462,000, or 13.4%, for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2025, respectively, compared to the prior
year periods. This category includes interest costs offset by capitalized interest pertaining to development and redevelopment activity, amortization of premium/discount on
debt, interest income and any mark-to-market impact from derivatives not in qualifying hedge relationships. The increases for the three and nine months ended September 30,
2025 are primarily due to decreases in interest income compared to the prior year periods due to lower cash amounts invested and lower rates, increased commercial paper
outstanding and increased effective interest expense for our unsecured indebtedness. The increases for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2025 are partially offset
by increased capitalized interest compared to the prior year periods.

General and administrative expense increased $1,939,000, or 9.7%, and $4,799,000, or 8.0%, for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2025, respectively, compared
to the prior year periods primarily due to an increase in legal costs and settlements and higher compensation costs.

Depreciation expense increased $18,249,000, or 8.6%, and $48,675,000, or 7.7%, for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2025, respectively, compared to the prior
year periods, primarily due to the addition of newly developed and acquired apartment communities, partially offset by dispositions.

Casualty and impairment loss for the nine months ended September 30, 2025 and September 30, 2024 was $858,000 and $2,935,000, respectively, which represents property
and casualty damage to certain of our communities. The charge for the nine months ended September 30, 2025 relates to damage from a water pipe break at a community in
Massachusetts. The charge for the nine months ended September 30, 2024 relates to flooding and resulting water damage at communities in California from extensive rainfall
and a fire at a community in New Jersey.
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Income from unconsolidated investments increased $17,237,000 and $6,591,000 for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2025, respectively, compared to the prior
year periods, primarily due to an increase in unrealized gains on our property technology investments.

Structured Investment Program interest income increased $1,362,000 and $7,338,000 for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2025, respectively, compared to the
prior year periods, primarily due to the increased principal amount funded in our SIP investments.

Gain on sale of communities, net increased $7,182,000 and $94,622,000 for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2025, respectively, compared to the prior year
periods. The amount of gain realized in a particular period depends on many factors, including the number of communities sold, expected operating performance of the
communities and the market conditions in the local area. For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2025, we sold six and nine wholly-owned communities and
recognized gains of $180,155,000 and $336,081,000, respectively. For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2024, we sold two and five wholly-owned communities
and recognized gains of $172,973,000 and $241,459,000, respectively.

Income Tax Benefit increased $975,000 and $1,538,000 for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2025, respectively, compared to the expense in prior year periods,
primarily due to the sale of solar tax credits in the current year.

Non-GAAP Financial Measures — Reconciliation of FFO and Core FFO

FFO and FFO adjusted for non-core items, or “Core FFO,” as defined below, are generally considered by management to be appropriate supplemental measures of our
operating and financial performance.

Consistent with the definition adopted by the Board of Governors of the National Association of Real Estate Investment Trusts® ("Nareit"), we calculate Funds from
Operations Attributable to Common Stockholders ("FFO") as net income or loss attributable to common stockholders computed in accordance with GAAP, adjusted for:

• gains or losses on sales of previously depreciated operating communities;
• cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle;
• impairment write-downs of depreciable real estate assets;
• write-downs of investments in affiliates due to a decrease in the value of depreciable real estate assets held by those affiliates;
• depreciation of real estate assets; and
• similar adjustments for unconsolidated partnerships and joint ventures, including those from a change in control.

FFO can help with the comparison of the operating and financial performance of a real estate company between periods or as compared to different companies because the
adjustments such as (i) gains or losses on sales of previously depreciated property or (ii) real estate depreciation may impact comparability as the amount and timing of these or
similar items can vary among owners of identical assets in similar condition based on historical cost accounting and useful life estimates. By further adjusting for items that we
do not consider part of our core business operations, Core FFO can help with the comparison of our core operating performance year over year. We believe that, in order to
understand our operating results, FFO and Core FFO should be considered in conjunction with net income as presented in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of
Comprehensive Income included elsewhere in this report.

We calculate Core FFO as FFO, adjusted for:

• joint venture gains (if not adjusted through FFO), non-core costs and promoted interests from partnerships;
• casualty and impairment losses or gains, net on non-depreciable real estate or other investments;
• gains or losses from early extinguishment of consolidated borrowings;
• expensed transaction, development and other pursuit costs, net of recoveries;
• legal recoveries, settlement proceeds, and certain legal costs;
• property and casualty insurance proceeds;
• gains or losses on sales of assets not subject to depreciation and other investment gains or losses;
• advocacy contributions, representing payments to promote our business interests;
• hedge ineffectiveness or gains or losses from derivatives not designated as hedges for accounting purposes;
• changes to expected credit losses associated with the lending commitments under the SIP;
• severance related costs;
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• executive transition compensation costs;
• net for-sale condominium activity, including gains, marketing, operating and administrative costs and imputed carry cost; and
• income taxes.

FFO and Core FFO do not represent (i) net income in accordance with GAAP, and therefore should not be considered an alternative to net income, which remains the primary
measure, as an indication of our performance, or (ii) cash generated from operating activities in accordance with GAAP, and therefore should not be considered an alternative to
net cash flows from operating activities, as determined by GAAP, as a measure of liquidity. In addition, FFO and Core FFO are not necessarily indicative of cash available to
fund cash needs and may not be comparable to FFO and Core FFO as calculated by other REITs.

The following is a reconciliation of net income attributable to common stockholders to FFO attributable to common stockholders and to Core FFO attributable to common
stockholders (unaudited, dollars in thousands, except per share amounts):

 

For the three months
ended September 30,

For the nine months
ended September 30,

 

2025 2024 2025 2024

Net income attributable to common stockholders $ 381,306  $ 372,519  $ 886,568  $ 799,902 
Depreciation - real estate assets, including joint venture adjustments 227,962  210,992  674,853  628,677 
Income attributable to noncontrolling interests 2,856  —  4,046  — 
Gain on sale of previously depreciated real estate, net (180,155) (172,973) (336,081) (241,459)
Casualty loss and impairment on real estate —  —  858  2,935 

FFO 431,969  410,538  1,230,244  1,190,055 

Adjusting items:
Unconsolidated entity gains, net (1) (42,350) (25,261) (39,885) (34,823)
Structured Investment Program loan reserve (2) 236  (813) 6  (771)
Hedge accounting activity 2  25  24  80 
Advocacy contributions 150  3,732  237  5,914 
Executive transition compensation costs —  200  —  304 
Severance related costs 751  738  953  1,979 
Expensed transaction, development and other pursuit costs, net of recoveries (3) 503  252  5,798  3,857 
Other real estate activity (4) (127) (293) (3,874) (574)
Legal settlements and costs 3,252  781  8,828  2,289 
Income tax (benefit) expense (193) 782  (840) 698 

Core FFO $ 394,193  $ 390,681  $ 1,201,491  $ 1,169,008 

Weighted average common shares outstanding - diluted 143,535,401  142,516,684  143,104,755  142,376,434 

Earnings per common share - diluted $ 2.68  $ 2.61  $ 6.22  $ 5.62 

FFO per common share - diluted $ 3.01  $ 2.88  $ 8.60  $ 8.36 

Core FFO per common share - diluted $ 2.75  $ 2.74  $ 8.40  $ 8.21 

_________________________
(1) Amounts consist primarily of net unrealized gains on property technology investments.
(2) Reflects changes to expected credit losses associated with our lending commitments primarily under the SIP. The timing and amount of actual losses that will be incurred, if any, is to be

determined at the maturity of each respective lending agreement.
(3) The amounts for the nine months ended September 30, 2025 and September 30, 2024 include a write-off of $3,668,000 and $1,600,000, respectively, for one development opportunity in

each year that we determined is no longer probable.
(4) Amounts for the nine months ended September 30, 2025 consist primarily of the gain on sale of a development right. Amounts for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2024

consist primarily of gains on sale of other non-operating real estate, as well as the imputed carry cost of for-sale residential condominiums at The Park Loggia. We compute this
adjustment by multiplying the total capitalized cost of completed and unsold for-sale residential condominiums by the weighted average effective interest rate on our unsecured debt.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

We employ a disciplined approach to our liquidity and capital management. When we source capital, we take into account both our view of the most cost-effective alternative
available and our desire to maintain a balance sheet that provides us with flexibility. Our principal focus on near-term and intermediate-term liquidity is to ensure we have
adequate capital to fund:

• development and redevelopment activity in which we are currently engaged or in which we plan to engage;
• the minimum dividend payments on our common stock required to maintain our REIT qualification under the Code;
• regularly scheduled principal and interest payments and principal payments either at maturity or opportunistically before maturity;
• normal recurring operating and corporate overhead expenses; and
• investment in our operating platform, including strategic investments.

Factors affecting our liquidity and capital resources are our cash flows from operations, financing activities and investing activities (including dispositions) as well as general
economic and market conditions. Cash flows from operations are determined by operating activities and factors including but not limited to (i) the number of apartment homes
currently owned, (ii) rental rates, (iii) occupancy levels, (iv) uncollectible lease revenue levels or interruptions in collections caused by market conditions (v) operating
expenses and (vi) capital expenditures with respect to our communities. The timing and type of capital markets activity in which we engage is affected by changes in the capital
markets environment, such as changes in interest rates or the availability of cost-effective capital. Our plans for development, redevelopment, non-routine capital expenditure,
acquisition and disposition activity are affected by market conditions and capital availability. We frequently review our liquidity needs, especially in periods with volatile
market conditions, as well as the adequacy of cash flows from operations and other expected liquidity sources to meet these needs.

We had cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash of $321,891,000 at September 30, 2025, an increase of $54,815,000 from $267,076,000 at December 31, 2024. The following
discussion relates to changes in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash due to operating, investing and financing activities.

A presentation of GAAP based cash flow metrics is as follows (unaudited, dollars in thousands):

 
For the nine months ended September 30,

 

2025 2024

Net cash provided by operating activities $ 1,270,674  $ 1,279,065 

Net cash used in investing activities $ (925,077) $ (682,589)

Net cash used in financing activities $ (290,782) $ (334,959)

• Net cash provided by operating activities increased primarily due to an increase in NOI from our stabilized operating communities as well as from our
Development Communities.

• Net cash used in investing activities was primarily due to (i) the investment of $849,799,000 in the development and redevelopment of communities, (ii)
acquisition of 12 wholly-owned communities and our joint venture partner's 50% interest in Avalon Alderwood Place for $643,975,000 and (iii) capital
expenditures of $186,318,000 for our wholly-owned communities and non-real estate assets. These amounts were partially offset by net proceeds from the
disposition of real estate assets of $799,247,000.

• Net cash used in financing activities was primarily due to (i) the payment of cash dividends in the amount of $742,879,000, (ii) repayment of $525,000,000 of our
3.45% coupon unsecured notes at par upon maturity and (iii) the repurchase of 786,797 shares of common stock at an average price of $192.99 per share for a
total purchase price including fees of $151,846,000. These amounts were partially offset by proceeds from the issuance of unsecured notes, including the Term
Loan, in the amount of $947,488,000 and proceeds from the issuance of commercial paper in the amount of $234,981,000.
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Variable Rate Unsecured Credit Facility

In April 2025, we entered into the Seventh Amended and Restated Revolving Loan Agreement with a syndicate of banks (the “Credit Facility”), which replaces our prior credit
facility, dated September 27, 2022. The amended and restated Credit Facility (i) increased the borrowing capacity under the Credit Facility from $2,250,000,000 to
$2,500,000,000, and (ii) extended the term of the Credit Facility from September 2026 to April 2030. The interest rate that would be applicable to borrowings under the Credit
Facility was 4.93% at October 31, 2025 and is composed of (i) the Secured Overnight Financing Rate ("SOFR"), applicable to the period of borrowing for a particular draw of
funds from the Credit Facility (e.g., one month to maturity, three months to maturity, etc.), plus (ii) the current borrowing spread to SOFR of 0.705% per annum, assuming a
daily SOFR borrowing rate. The borrowing spread to SOFR can vary from SOFR plus 0.65% to SOFR plus 1.40% based upon the rating of our unsecured senior notes. There is
also an annual facility commitment fee of 0.12% of the borrowing capacity under the Credit Facility, which can vary from 0.10% to 0.30% based upon the rating of our
unsecured senior notes. The Credit Facility contains a sustainability-linked pricing component which provides for interest rate margin and commitment fee reductions or
increases related to certain environmental sustainability targets, specifically greenhouse gas emission reductions, with the adjustment determined annually. The most recent
annual determination under the sustainability-linked pricing component occurred in July 2025, maintaining reductions of approximately 0.02% to the interest rate margin and
0.005% to the commitment fee due to our achievement of sustainability targets.

The availability on the Credit Facility as of October 31, 2025 is as follows (dollars in thousands):
  October 31, 2025

Credit Facility commitment $ 2,500,000 
Credit Facility outstanding — 
Commercial paper outstanding (445,000)
Letters of credit outstanding (1) (864)

Total Credit Facility available $ 2,054,136 

_____________________________________
(1) In addition, we had $54,864 outstanding in additional letters of credit unrelated to the Credit Facility as of October 31, 2025.

Commercial Paper Program

We have a Commercial Paper Program in which we may issue unsecured commercial paper notes with maturities of less than one year. In April 2025, we increased the
maximum amount of commercial paper notes that can be outstanding under the Commercial Paper Program from $500,000,000 to $1,000,000,000. The Commercial Paper
Program is backstopped by our commitment to maintain available borrowing capacity under the Credit Facility in an amount equal to actual borrowings under the Commercial
Paper Program. As of October 31, 2025, we had $445,000,000 of borrowings outstanding under the Commercial Paper Program.

Secured and Unsecured Borrowings - Financial Covenants and Early Repayment Provisions

We are subject to financial covenants contained in the Credit Facility, the Term Loan and the indentures under which our unsecured notes were issued. The principal financial
covenants include the following:

• limitations on the amount of total and secured debt in relation to our overall capital structure;
• limitations on the amount of our unsecured debt relative to the undepreciated basis of real estate assets that are not encumbered by property-specific financing; and
• minimum levels of debt service coverage.

We were in compliance with these covenants at September 30, 2025.

In addition, some of our secured and unsecured borrowings include yield maintenance, defeasance or prepayment penalty provisions, which could result in us incurring an
additional charge in the event of a full or partial prepayment of outstanding principal before the scheduled maturity. These provisions in our borrowings are generally consistent
with other similar types of debt instruments issued during the same time period in which our borrowings were issued.
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Continuous Equity Offering Program

Under our continuous equity program (the "CEP"), we may sell (and/or enter into forward sale agreements for the sale of) up to $1,000,000,000 of our common stock from time
to time. During 2024, we entered into forward contracts under the CEP to sell 367,113 shares of common stock for approximate proceeds, net of fees, of $80,687,000, based on
the gross weighted average price of $223.27 per share, with settlement of the forward contracts expected to occur on one or more dates not later than December 31, 2025. The
final proceeds will be determined on the date(s) of settlement and are subject to certain customary adjustments for dividends and a daily interest factor. During the three and
nine months ended September 30, 2025 and through October 31, 2025, we did not have any sales under the CEP. As of October 31, 2025, we had $623,997,000 remaining
authorized for issuance under this program, after consideration of outstanding forward contracts.

Forward Equity Offering

In addition to the CEP, during the three months ended September 30, 2024, we entered into forward contracts to sell 3,680,000 shares of common stock at a discount to the
closing price of $226.52 per share for approximate net proceeds of $808,606,000. The final proceeds will be determined on the date(s) of settlement and are subject to certain
customary adjustments for dividends and a daily interest factor. During the three months ended September 30, 2025, we amended each of the forward contracts related to the
September 2024 Equity Offering to extend the settlement of the forward contracts to a date no later than December 31, 2026.

Future Financing and Capital Needs - Debt Maturities and Material Obligations

One of our principal long-term liquidity needs is the repayment of long-term debt at maturity. For both our unsecured and secured notes, a portion of the principal of these notes
may be repaid prior to maturity. Early retirement of our unsecured or secured notes could result in gains or losses on extinguishment. We may use capital from a variety of
sources to repay debt at maturity, including proceeds received from the dispositions of our operating communities or other direct and indirect investments in real estate and cash
from operations. If we do not have funds on hand sufficient to repay our indebtedness as it becomes due, it will be necessary for us to refinance or otherwise provide liquidity to
satisfy the debt at maturity. This refinancing may be accomplished by uncollateralized private or public debt offerings, equity issuances, including through the settlement of the
outstanding equity forwards, additional debt financing that is secured by mortgages on individual communities or groups of communities or borrowings under our Credit
Facility, Term Loan or Commercial Paper Program. In addition, to the extent we have amounts outstanding under the Commercial Paper Program, we are obligated to repay the
short-term indebtedness at maturity through either current cash on hand or by incurring other indebtedness, including by way of borrowing under our Credit Facility or Term
Loan. Although we believe we will have the capacity to meet our currently anticipated liquidity needs, we cannot assure you that capital from additional debt financing or debt
or equity offerings will be available or, if available, that they will be on terms we consider satisfactory.
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The following debt and derivative activity occurred during the nine months ended September 30, 2025 through the date of this Form 10-Q:

• In April 2025, we entered into a $450,000,000 Term Loan which matures in April 2029. The Term Loan bears interest at varying levels based on (i) the SOFR
applicable to the period of borrowing for a particular draw of funds from the facility, which rate is recalculated at the end of each such period if the Term Loan remains
outstanding, (ii) a stated spread over SOFR that can vary from SOFR plus 0.70% to SOFR plus 1.60% per annum based upon the rating of our unsecured and
unsubordinated long-term indebtedness and (iii) a sustainability spread adjustment that can range from (0.02)% to 0.02%. The current borrowing spread to SOFR
under the Term Loan is 0.78% per annum, inclusive of a sustainability spread adjustment of (0.02)%. On August 1, 2025, we amended the Term Loan to (i) exercise
our full accordion option to increase the amount of the Term Loan by $100,000,000 to $550,000,000 and (ii) extend the applicability of the sustainability-linked
pricing component. During the nine months ended September 30, 2025, we drew down the full amount of the Term Loan and entered into $550,000,000 notional
amount of interest rate swaps to hedge the impact of variability in interest rates on the Term Loan. The swaps are coterminous with the Term Loan, maturing in April
2029. Including the impact of these swaps and transaction costs, assuming the Term Loan will be fully drawn until maturity and our current borrowing spread to
SOFR, the effective interest rate on borrowings under the Term Loan is fixed at 4.44% through maturity.

• In June 2025, we repaid $525,000,000 of our 3.45% coupon unsecured notes at par upon maturity.

• In July 2025, we issued $400,000,000 principal amount of unsecured notes in a public offering under our existing shelf registration statement for proceeds net of
underwriting fees and discounts of approximately $394,888,000, before considering the impact of other offering costs. The notes mature in August 2035 and were
issued at a 5.00% interest rate. The effective interest rate of the notes is 5.05%, considering the net proceeds and including the impact of offering costs and hedging
activity. In connection with the issuance of our $400,000,000 unsecured notes, we terminated $200,000,000 of interest rate swap agreements designated as cash flow
hedges of the interest rate variability on the issuance of the unsecured notes, receiving payments of $4,099,000 in July 2025 which will be recognized over the life of
the unsecured notes as a reduction in the effective interest rate. Of the $200,000,000 forward interest rate swap agreements terminated, $100,000,000 were entered into
during the nine months ended September 30, 2025.

• On August 1, 2025, we amended the Credit Facility to extend the applicability of the sustainability-linked pricing component, which provides for interest rate margin
and commitment fee reductions or increases related to certain environmental sustainability targets. The reductions or increases can range from (0.02)% to 0.02% to the
interest rate margin and (0.005)% to 0.005% to the commitment fee. All other terms of the Credit Facility, including its maturity date of April 2030, remain unchanged.

The following table details our consolidated debt obligations, including the effective interest rate and contractual maturity dates, and principal payments for periodic
amortization and maturities for the next five years, excluding our Credit Facility and Commercial Paper Program and amounts outstanding related to communities classified as
held for sale, at September 30, 2025 and December 31, 2024 (dollars in thousands). We are not directly or indirectly (as borrower or guarantor) obligated in any material respect
to pay principal or interest on the indebtedness of any unconsolidated entities in which we have an equity or other interest other than as disclosed related to the AVA Arts
District loan (see "Unconsolidated Operating Communities" for further discussion of the AVA Arts District loan).
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  Effective
interest
rate (1)

Principal
maturity

date

Balance Outstanding (2) Scheduled Maturities

Debt 12/31/2024 9/30/2025 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 Thereafter
Tax-exempt bonds                    
Variable rate                    

Avalon Acton 3.93 % Jul-2040 (3) $ 45,000  $ 45,000  $ —  $ —  $ —  $ —  $ —  $ 45,000 
Avalon Clinton North 4.58 % Nov-2038 (3) 126,400  126,400  —  —  700  2,800  3,000  119,900 
Avalon Clinton South 4.58 % Nov-2038 (3) 104,500  104,500  —  —  600  2,300  2,400  99,200 
Avalon Midtown West 4.58 % May-2029 (3) 69,800  62,500  800  8,100  8,900  9,800  34,900  — 
Avalon San Bruno I 4.47 % Dec-2037 (3) 55,250  52,850  —  2,400  2,700  2,900  3,100  41,750 

400,950  391,250  800  10,500  12,900  17,800  43,400  305,850 
Conventional loans                    
Fixed rate                    

$525 million unsecured notes 3.55 % Jun-2025 (4) 525,000 —  —  —  —  —  —  — 
$300 million unsecured notes 3.62 % Nov-2025 300,000 300,000  300,000  —  —  —  —  — 
$475 million unsecured notes 3.35 % May-2026 475,000 475,000  —  475,000  —  —  —  — 
$300 million unsecured notes 3.01 % Oct-2026 300,000 300,000  —  300,000  —  —  —  — 
$350 million unsecured notes 3.95 % Oct-2046 350,000 350,000  —  —  —  —  —  350,000 
$400 million unsecured notes 3.50 % May-2027 400,000 400,000  —  —  400,000  —  —  — 
$300 million unsecured notes 4.09 % Jul-2047 300,000 300,000  —  —  —  —  —  300,000 
$450 million unsecured notes 3.32 % Jan-2028 450,000 450,000  —  —  —  450,000  —  — 
$300 million unsecured notes 3.97 % Apr-2048 300,000 300,000  —  —  —  —  —  300,000 
$450 million unsecured notes 3.66 % Jun-2029 450,000 450,000  —  —  —  —  450,000  — 
$700 million unsecured notes 2.69 % Mar-2030 700,000 700,000  —  —  —  —  —  700,000 
$600 million unsecured notes 2.65 % Jan-2031 600,000 600,000  —  —  —  —  —  600,000 
$700 million unsecured notes 2.16 % Jan-2032 700,000 700,000  —  —  —  —  —  700,000 
$400 million unsecured notes 2.03 % Dec-2028 400,000 400,000  —  —  —  400,000  —  — 
$350 million unsecured notes 4.38 % Feb-2033 350,000 350,000  —  —  —  —  —  350,000 
$400 million unsecured notes 5.19 % Dec-2033 400,000 400,000  —  —  —  —  —  400,000 
$400 million unsecured notes 5.05 % Jun-2034 400,000 400,000  —  —  —  —  —  400,000 
$400 million unsecured notes 5.05 % Aug-2035 —  400,000  —  —  —  —  —  400,000 
$550 million Term Loan 4.44 % Apr-2029 (5) —  550,000  —  —  —  —  550,000  — 
Avalon Walnut Creek 4.00 % Jul-2066 4,681 4,868  —  —  —  —  —  4,868 
eaves Los Feliz 3.68 % Jun-2027 41,400 41,400  —  —  41,400  —  —  — 
eaves Woodland Hills 3.67 % Jun-2027 111,500 111,500  —  —  111,500  —  —  — 
Avalon Russett 3.77 % Jun-2027 32,200 32,200  —  —  32,200  —  —  — 
Avalon San Bruno III 2.38 % Mar-2027 51,000 51,000  —  —  51,000  —  —  — 
Avalon Cerritos 3.34 % Aug-2029 30,250 30,250  —  —  —  —  30,250  — 
Avalon West Plano 5.97 % May-2029 62,448 61,656  273  1,111  1,159  1,202  57,911  — 

      7,733,479  8,157,874  300,273  776,111  637,259  851,202  1,088,161  4,504,868 

Total indebtedness - excluding Credit
Facility and Commercial Paper     $ 8,134,429  $ 8,549,124  $ 301,073  $ 786,611  $ 650,159  $ 869,002  $ 1,131,561  $ 4,810,718 

_________________________
(1) Rates are as of September 30, 2025 and include credit enhancement fees, facility fees, trustees' fees, the impact of interest rate hedges, offering costs, mark-to-market amortization and

other fees.
(2) Balances outstanding represent total amounts due at maturity, and exclude deferred financing costs and debt discount for the unsecured notes of $44,287 and $41,216 as of September 30,

2025 and December 31, 2024, respectively, and deferred financing costs and debt discount for the secured notes of $14,182 and $15,964 as of September 30, 2025 and December 31,
2024, respectively, as reflected on our Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets included elsewhere in this report.

(3) Financed by variable rate debt, but interest rate is capped through an interest rate protection agreement.
(4) In June 2025, we repaid this borrowing at par on its scheduled maturity date.
(5) The variable rate Term Loan has been swapped to an effective fixed rate using interest rate swaps.

In addition to consolidated debt, we have scheduled contractual obligations associated with (i) ground leases for land underlying current operating or development communities
and commercial and parking facilities and (ii) office leases for our corporate headquarters and regional offices. As of September 30, 2025, other than as discussed in this
Form 10-Q, there have been no other material changes in our scheduled contractual obligations as disclosed in the Form 10-K.
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Future Financing and Capital Needs — Portfolio and Capital Markets Activity

We invest in various real estate and real estate related investments, which include (i) the acquisition, development and redevelopment of communities both wholly-owned and
through the formation of joint ventures, (ii) other indirect investments in real estate through the SIP, all as discussed further below and (iii) investments in other real estate-
related ventures through direct and indirect investments in third-party property technology and sustainability focused companies and investment management funds.

In 2025, we expect to continue to meet our liquidity needs from one or more of a variety of internal and external sources, which may include (i) settlement of our outstanding
equity forward contracts, (ii) real estate dispositions, (iii) cash balances on hand as well as cash generated from our operating activities, (iv) borrowing capacity under the
Credit Facility, (v) borrowings under the Commercial Paper Program and (vi) secured and unsecured debt financings. Additional sources of liquidity in 2025 may include the
issuance of common and preferred equity, including the issuance of additional shares of our common stock under the CEP. Our ability to obtain additional financing will depend
on a variety of factors, such as market conditions, the general availability of credit, the overall availability of credit to the real estate industry, our credit ratings and credit
capacity, as well as the perception of lenders regarding our long or short-term financial prospects.

Before beginning new construction or reconstruction activity, including activity related to communities owned by unconsolidated joint ventures, we plan to source sufficient
capital to complete these undertakings, although we cannot assure that we will be able to obtain such financing. In the event that financing cannot be obtained, we may abandon
Development Rights, write-off associated pre-development costs that were capitalized and/or forego reconstruction activity. In such instances, we will not realize the increased
revenues and earnings that we expected from such Development Rights or reconstruction activity and significant losses could be incurred.

From time to time, we use joint ventures to hold or develop individual real estate assets. We generally employ joint ventures to mitigate asset concentration or market risk and
as a source of liquidity. We may also use joint ventures related to mixed-use land development opportunities and new markets where our partners bring development and
operational expertise and/or experience to the venture. Each joint venture or partnership agreement has been individually negotiated, and our ability to operate and/or dispose of
a community in our sole discretion may be limited to varying degrees depending on the terms of the joint venture or partnership agreement. We cannot assure that we will
achieve our objectives through joint ventures.

In addition, we may invest, through mezzanine loans or preferred equity investments, in multifamily development projects being undertaken by third parties. In these cases, we
do not expect to acquire the underlying real estate but rather to earn a return on our investment (through interest or fixed rate preferred equity returns) and a return of the
invested capital generally following completion of construction either on or before a set due date.

In evaluating our allocation of capital within our markets, we sell assets that do not meet our long-term investment criteria or when capital and real estate markets allow us to
realize a portion of the value created over our ownership periods and redeploy the proceeds from those sales to develop, redevelop and acquire communities. Because the
proceeds from the sale of communities may not be immediately redeployed into revenue generating assets that we develop, redevelop or acquire, the immediate effect of a sale
of a community for a gain is to increase net income, but reduce future total revenues, total expenses and NOI until such time as the proceeds have been redeployed into revenue
generating assets. We believe that the temporary absence of future cash flows from communities sold will not have a material impact on our ability to fund future liquidity and
capital resource needs.

Stock Repurchases and New Stock Repurchase Program

During the three months ended September 30, 2025, we repurchased 786,797 shares of common stock at an average price of $192.99 per share, including fees, for a total of
$151,846,000 under our then-existing stock repurchase program (the "2020 Stock Repurchase Program").

In October 2025, following the completion of these purchases, we terminated the 2020 Stock Repurchase Program and adopted a new stock repurchase program under which
we may acquire shares of our common stock in open market or negotiated transactions up to an aggregate purchase price of $500,000,000 (the "2025 Stock Repurchase
Program"). Purchases of common stock under the 2025 Stock Repurchase Program may occur from time to time in our discretion. The timing and actual number of shares
repurchased will depend on a variety of factors including price, corporate and regulatory requirements, market conditions and other corporate liquidity requirements and
priorities. The 2025 Stock Repurchase Program does not have an expiration date and may be suspended or terminated at any time without prior notice. Through the date of this
Form 10-Q, the
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Company repurchased 219,289 shares of common stock at an average price of $174.00 per share, including fees, for a total of $38,157,000 under the 2025 Stock Repurchase
Program.

Unconsolidated Operating Communities

As of September  30, 2025, we had investments in the following unconsolidated real estate entities accounted for under the equity method of accounting. See Note 5,
"Investments," of the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements included elsewhere in this report. For joint ventures holding operating apartment communities as of
September 30, 2025, detail of the real estate and associated indebtedness underlying our unconsolidated investments is presented in the following table (dollars in thousands).

 
Company

 ownership
percentage

# of apartment
homes

Total
capitalized cost

Debt (1)
  Principal

amount
 

Interest rate Maturity dateUnconsolidated Real Estate Investments Type

NYTA MF Investors, LLC
1. Avalon Bowery Place I - New York, NY 206 $ 218,412  $ 93,800  Fixed 4.01 % Jan 2029
2. Avalon Bowery Place II - New York, NY 90 91,769  39,639  Fixed 4.01 % Jan 2029

3. Avalon Morningside - New York, NY (2) 295 217,127  111,295  Fixed 3.55 %
Jan 2029/May

2046
4. Avalon West Chelsea - New York, NY (3) 305 130,634  66,000  Fixed 4.01 % Jan 2029
5. AVA High Line - New York, NY (3) 405 123,213  84,000  Fixed 4.01 % Jan 2029

Total NYTA MF Investors, LLC 20.0 % 1,301  781,155  394,734  3.88 %

Other Operating Joint Ventures (7)              
1. MVP I, LLC - Avalon at Mission Bay II -
    San Francisco, CA (4) 25.0 % 313  130,469  —  —  —  — 
2. Brandywine Apartments of Maryland, LLC -
    Brandywine - Washington, D.C. 28.6 % 305  20,093  17,833  Fixed 3.40 % Jun 2028
3. Arts District Joint Venture - AVA Arts District -
    Los Angeles, CA (5) 25.0 % 475  288,441  161,567  Variable 6.94 % Jul 2028

Total Other Joint Ventures 1,093  439,003  179,400  6.59 %
   

Total Unconsolidated Real Estate Investments (6) 2,394  $ 1,220,158  $ 574,134  4.73 %

_____________________________
(1) We have not guaranteed the debt of these unconsolidated investees and bear no responsibility for the repayment other than for the Arts District joint venture as discussed below in footnote

5.
(2) Borrowing on this community is comprised of two mortgage loans. The interest rate is the weighted average interest rate as of September 30, 2025.
(3) Borrowing on this dual-branded community is comprised of a single mortgage loan. This dual-branded community is subject to a leasehold interest which is not included in the total

capitalized cost.
(4) In July 2025, MVP I, LLC repaid $103,000 of outstanding secured indebtedness at par upon maturity. The equity investors contributed capital in proportion to their ownership interests to

repay the outstanding loan.
(5) AVA Arts District completed development during the year ended December 31, 2024 and achieved stabilized residential operations. In June 2025, the joint venture secured a variable rate

loan with a maturity date of July 2028 and used the proceeds to repay the previously existing $158,735 variable rate construction loan which was scheduled to mature in August 2025. The
outstanding borrowing is subject to an interest rate cap, which will limit the interest rate to 8.2%, based on the current borrowing spread. While we guarantee 25% of the new loan, any
amounts payable under the guarantee are obligations of the joint venture partners in proportion to their ownership interest.

(6) In addition to leasehold assets, there were net other assets of $39,471 as of September 30, 2025 associated with our unconsolidated real estate investments which are primarily cash and
cash equivalents.

(7) During the three months ended September 30, 2025, the Company acquired its joint venture partner's 50% interest in Avalon Alderwood Place which is now a wholly owned apartment
community and consolidated for financial reporting purposes.
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Development Communities

As of September  30, 2025, we owned or held a direct interest in 21 Development communities under construction.  We expect these Development communities, when
completed, to add a total of 7,806 apartment homes and 100,000 square feet of commercial space to our portfolio for a total capitalized cost, including land acquisition costs, of
approximately $3,012,000,000. We cannot assure you that we will meet our schedule for construction completion or that we will meet our budgeted costs, either individually, or
in the aggregate.

The following table presents a summary of the Development communities.

Number of
apartment

homes

Projected total
capitalized cost (1)

($ millions)
Construction

start
Initial projected

or actual occupancy
Estimated
completion

Estimated
stabilized
operations

(2)
1. Avalon West Windsor (3)

West Windsor, NJ
535  $ 210  Q2 2022 Q3 2025 Q2 2026 Q4 2026

2. Avalon Lake Norman (4)
Mooresville, NC

345  101  Q1 2023 Q2 2025 Q2 2026 Q3 2026

3. Avalon Hunt Valley West
Hunt Valley, MD

322  106  Q2 2023 Q1 2025 Q4 2025 Q3 2026

4. Avalon South Miami (3)
South Miami, FL

290  186  Q3 2023 Q3 2025 Q4 2025 Q4 2026

5. Avalon Wayne
Wayne, NJ

473  171  Q4 2023 Q2 2025 Q3 2026 Q1 2027

6. Avalon Parsippany
Parsippany, NJ

410  147  Q4 2023 Q3 2025 Q2 2026 Q4 2026

7. Avalon Pleasanton (5)
Pleasanton, CA

362  218  Q2 2024 Q3 2025 Q3 2027 Q1 2028

8. Avalon Roseland II
Roseland, NJ

533  196  Q2 2024 Q4 2025 Q4 2026 Q2 2027

9. Avalon Quincy Adams
Quincy, MA

288  124  Q2 2024 Q1 2026 Q3 2026 Q2 2027

10. Avalon Tech Ridge I
Austin, TX

444  120  Q3 2024 Q1 2026 Q1 2027 Q3 2027

11. Avalon Carmel (4)
Charlotte, NC

360  123  Q3 2024 Q2 2026 Q3 2026 Q3 2027

12. Avalon Plano (4)
Plano, TX

155  58  Q3 2024 Q2 2026 Q2 2027 Q4 2027

13. Avalon Oakridge I
Durham, NC

459  149  Q3 2024 Q1 2027 Q1 2028 Q3 2028

14. AVA Brewer's Hill
Baltimore, MD

418  134  Q4 2024 Q4 2026 Q3 2027 Q1 2028

15. Kanso Hillcrest
San Diego, CA

182  85  Q4 2024 Q1 2027 Q2 2027 Q4 2027

16. Avalon Parker
Parker, CO

312  122  Q1 2025 Q3 2026 Q2 2027 Q1 2028

17. Avalon North Palm Beach (3)
Lake Park, FL

279  118  Q1 2025 Q1 2027 Q3 2027 Q1 2028

18. Avalon Brier Creek
Durham, NC

400  127  Q2 2025 Q3 2026 Q3 2027 Q1 2028

19. Avalon Kendall (4)
Kendall, FL

224  83  Q2 2025 Q1 2027 Q2 2027 Q1 2028

20. Avalon Southpoint (4)
Durham, NC

394  132  Q3 2025 Q4 2026 Q2 2028 Q3 2028

21. Avalon Mission Valley (3)
San Diego, CA

621  302  Q3 2025 Q4 2027 Q1 2029 Q3 2029

Total 7,806  $ 3,012 

_________________________________
(1) Projected total capitalized cost includes all capitalized costs projected to be or actually incurred to develop the respective Development community, determined in accordance with GAAP,

including land acquisition costs, construction costs, real estate taxes, capitalized interest and loan fees, permits, professional fees, allocated development overhead and other regulatory fees,
as well as costs incurred for first generation commercial tenants such as tenant improvements and leasing commissions.

(2) Stabilized operations is defined as the earlier of (i) attainment of 90% or greater physical occupancy or (ii) the one-year anniversary of completion of development.
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(3) Development communities containing at least 10,000 square feet of commercial space include Avalon West Windsor (19,000 sf), Avalon South Miami (32,000 sf), Avalon North Palm Beach
(10,000 sf), and Avalon Mission Valley (31,000 sf).

(4) Communities being developed through our Developer Funding Program ("DFP"). The DFP utilizes third-party multifamily developers to source and construct communities which we own and
operate.

(5) During the nine months ended September 30, 2025, the Company expanded the Avalon Pleasanton development in Pleasanton, CA, adding an additional 280 apartment homes, and increasing
the total estimated capitalized costs by $160,000,000.

During the three months ended September 30, 2025, we completed the development of the following wholly-owned community:
Number of
apartment

homes

Total capitalized 
cost (1)

($ millions)
Approximate rentable area

(sq. ft.)
Total capitalized cost per sq.

ft.
1. Avalon Annapolis

Annapolis, MD 508  $ 195  387,000  $ 504 
Total 508  $ 195   

____________________________________
(1) Total capitalized cost is as of September 30, 2025. We generally anticipate incurring additional costs associated with this community which is customary for new developments.

Development Rights

At September 30, 2025, we had $126,050,000 in acquisition and related capitalized costs for direct interests in eight land parcels we own. In addition, we had $77,083,000 in
capitalized costs (including legal fees, design fees and related overhead costs) consisting of $65,198,000 included as deferred development rights and the balance included in
our unconsolidated investments, with these amounts related to (i) 21 Development Rights for which we control the land parcel, typically through a conditional agreement or
option to purchase or lease the land, as well as (ii) costs incurred for five Development Rights that we expect to construct as additional phases of our existing stabilized
operating communities on land we own. Collectively, the land held for development and associated costs for deferred development rights relate to 34 Development Rights for
which we expect to develop new apartment communities in the future. The Development Rights range from those beginning design and architectural planning to those that have
completed site plans and drawings and can begin construction almost immediately. We estimate that the successful completion of all of these communities would ultimately add
approximately 9,381 apartment homes to our portfolio. Substantially all of these apartment homes will offer features like those offered by the communities we currently own.

The Development Rights are in different stages of the due diligence and regulatory approval process. The decisions as to which of the Development Rights to invest in, if any,
or to continue to pursue once an investment in a Development Right is made, are business judgments that we make after we perform financial, demographic and other
analyses.  In the event that we do not proceed with a Development Right, we generally would not recover any of the capitalized costs incurred in the pursuit of those
communities, unless we were to recover amounts in connection with the sale of land; however, we cannot guarantee a recovery. Pre-development costs incurred in the pursuit of
Development Rights for which future development is not yet considered probable are expensed as incurred. In addition, if the status of a Development Right changes, making
future development no longer probable, any unrecoverable capitalized pre-development costs are charged to expense. We incurred a charge of $1,392,000 and $1,573,000 for
the three months ended September 30, 2025 and 2024, respectively, and $8,629,000 and $7,235,000 for the nine months ended September 30, 2025 and 2024, respectively, for
expensed transaction, development and other pursuit costs, net of recoveries, which include development pursuits that were not yet probable of future development at the time
incurred, or for pursuits that we determined were no longer probable of being developed. The amounts for the nine months ended September 30, 2025 and 2024 include a write-
off of $3,668,000 and $1,600,000, respectively, for one development opportunity in each year that we determined is no longer probable.

Structured Investment Program

As of October 31, 2025, we had nine commitments to fund up to $239,585,000 in the aggregate under the SIP. As of October 31, 2025, our investment commitments had a
weighted average rate of return of 11.7% and a weighted average initial maturity date of May 2027. As of October  31, 2025, we had funded $206,876,000 of these
commitments. See Note 5, "Investments," of the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements included elsewhere in this report.
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You should carefully review Part I, Item 1A. "Risk Factors" of the Form 10-K, as well as the discussion under Part II, Item 1A. "Risk Factors" in this report, for a discussion of
the risks associated with our investment activity.

Forward-Looking Statements

This Form  10-Q contains "forward-looking statements" within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"). We intend such forward-looking statements to be covered by the safe harbor provisions for forward-looking
statements contained in the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. The Company's forward-looking statements generally use the words "believe," "expect,"
"anticipate," "intend," "estimate," "assume," "project," "plan," "may," "shall," "will," "pursue" and other similar expressions that indicate future events and trends and do not
report historical matters. These statements, among other things, address the Company's intent, belief or expectations with respect to:

• development, redevelopment, acquisition or disposition of communities;
• the timing and cost of completion of communities under development or redevelopment;
• the timing of lease-up, occupancy and stabilization of communities;
• the pursuit of land for future development;
• the anticipated operating performance of our communities;
• cost, yield, revenue, NOI and earnings estimates;
• the impact of landlord-tenant laws and rent regulations; including rent caps;
• our expansion into new regions;
• our declaration or payment of dividends;
• our joint venture activities;
• our policies regarding investments, indebtedness, acquisitions, dispositions, financings and other matters;
• our qualification as a REIT under the Code;
• the real estate markets in regions where we operate and in general;
• the availability of debt and equity financing;
• interest rates;
• inflation, tariffs and other economic conditions, and their potential impacts;
• trends affecting our financial condition or results of operations;
• regulatory changes that may affect us; and
• the impact of legal proceedings.

We cannot assure the future results or outcome of the matters described in these statements; rather, these statements merely reflect our current expectations of the outcomes of
the matters discussed. We do not undertake a duty to update these forward-looking statements, and therefore they may not represent our estimates and assumptions after the date
of this report. You should not rely on forward-looking statements because they involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors, some of which are beyond
our control. These risks, uncertainties and other factors may cause our actual results, performance or achievements to differ materially from the anticipated future results,
performance or achievements expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements. You should carefully review the discussion under Part I, Item 1A. "Risk Factors" of the
Form 10-K and Part II, Item 1A. "Risk Factors" in this report, for further discussion of risks associated with forward-looking statements.

Some of the factors that could cause our actual results, performance or achievements to differ materially from those expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements
include, but are not limited to, the following:

• we may fail to secure development opportunities due to an inability to reach agreements with third parties to obtain land at attractive prices or to obtain desired zoning
and other local approvals;

• we may abandon or defer development opportunities for a number of reasons, including changes in local market conditions which make development less desirable,
increases in costs of development, increases in the cost of capital or lack of capital availability, resulting in losses;

• construction costs of a community may exceed original estimates;
• we may not complete construction and lease-up of communities under development or redevelopment on schedule, resulting in increased interest costs and

construction costs and a decrease in expected rental revenues;
• occupancy rates and market rents may be adversely affected by competition and local economic and market conditions which are beyond our control;
• our cash flows from operations and access to cost-effective capital may be insufficient for the development of our pipeline, which could limit our pursuit of

opportunities;
• an outbreak of disease or other public health event may affect the multifamily industry and general economy;
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• our cash flows may be insufficient to meet required payments of principal and interest, and we may be unable to refinance existing indebtedness or the terms of such
refinancing may not be as favorable as the terms of existing indebtedness;

• we may be unsuccessful in our management of joint ventures and the REIT vehicles that are used with certain joint ventures;
• we may experience a casualty loss, natural disaster or severe weather event, including those caused by climate change;
• new or existing laws and regulations implementing rent control or rent stabilization, or otherwise limiting our ability to increase rents, charge fees or evict tenants, may

impact our revenue or increase our costs;
• our expectations, estimates and assumptions as of the date of this filing regarding legal proceedings may change;
• we may choose to pay dividends in our stock instead of cash, which may result in stockholders having to pay taxes with respect to such dividends in excess of the cash

received, if any; and
• investments made under the SIP may not be repaid as expected or the development may not be completed on schedule, which could require us to engage in litigation,

foreclosure actions, and/or first party project completion to recover our investment, which may not be recovered in full or at all in such event.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to use judgment in the application of accounting policies, including making estimates
and assumptions. If our judgment or interpretation of the facts and circumstances relating to various transactions had been different, or different assumptions were made, it is
possible that different accounting policies would have been applied, resulting in different financial results or a different presentation of our financial statements. Our critical
accounting policies consist of the following: (i) cost capitalization and (ii) abandoned pursuit costs and asset impairment. Our critical accounting policies and estimates have
not changed materially from the discussion of our significant accounting policies found in Part II, Item 7. "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations" in the Form 10-K.
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ITEM 3.    QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

There have been no material changes to our exposures to market risk as disclosed in Part II, Item 7A. "Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk" in our
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2024.

ITEM 4.    CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

(a) Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures.

The Company carried out an evaluation under the supervision and with the participation of the Company's management, including the Company's
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of the Company's disclosure controls and
procedures as of September  30, 2025. Based upon that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that the
Company's disclosure controls and procedures are effective to ensure that information required to be disclosed by the Company in the reports it files
or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported, within the time periods specified in the Securities and
Exchange Commission's rules and forms.

We continue to review and document our disclosure controls and procedures, including our internal controls and procedures for financial reporting,
and may from time to time make changes aimed at enhancing their effectiveness and to ensure that our systems evolve with our business.

(b) Changes in internal controls over financial reporting.

There were no changes to the internal control over financial reporting of the Company identified in connection with the Company’s evaluation
referred to above that occurred during the third quarter of 2025 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

PART II.    OTHER INFORMATION
 
ITEM 1.    LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

As disclosed in Note 7, "Commitments and Contingencies" of the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements in Part I, Item 1 of this report, we are engaged in certain legal
proceedings, and the disclosure set forth in Note 7, "Commitments and Contingencies" relating to legal and other contingencies is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 1A.     RISK FACTORS

In addition to the other information set forth in this report, you should carefully consider the risk factors that could materially affect our business, financial condition or future
results discussed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2024 in Part I, Item 1A. "Risk Factors." The risks described in the Form 10-K are not the
only risks that could affect the Company. Additional risks and uncertainties not currently known to us or that we currently deem to be immaterial may also materially adversely
affect our business, financial condition and/or operating results in the future. There have been no material changes to our risk factors since December 31, 2024.
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ITEM 2.    UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS

(a) None.

(b) Not applicable.

(c) Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Period
Total Number of Shares

Purchased (1)
Average Price Paid 

Per Share

Total Number of
Shares Purchased as

Part of Publicly
Announced Plans or

Programs

Maximum Number (or Approximate Dollar
Value) of Shares that May Yet

be Purchased Under
the Plans or Programs
(in thousands) (2)(3)

July 1 - July 31, 2025 —  $ —  —  $ 314,237 
August 1 - August 31, 2025 477  $ 184.97  —  $ 314,237 
September 1 - September 30, 2025 786,974  $ 192.99  786,797  $ 162,407 
Total 787,451  $ 192.99  786,797 

___________________________________

(1) Consists of (i) shares surrendered to the Company in connection with exercise of stock options as payment of exercise price, as well as for taxes associated with the vesting of restricted
share grants and the conversion of performance awards to shares of common stock and (ii) activity under the 2020 Stock Repurchase Program, if any, as indicated under Total Number of
Shares Purchased as Part of Publicly Announced Plans or Programs.

(2) The Board of Directors approved the 2020 Stock Repurchase Program in July 2020 under which the Company was authorized to acquire shares of its common stock in open market or
negotiated transactions up to an aggregate purchase price of $500,000,000.

(3) Represents remaining repurchase authority as of the indicated month end under the 2020 Stock Repurchase Program. On October 28, 2025, the Company terminated the 2020 Stock
Repurchase Program and adopted the 2025 Stock Repurchase Program, under which the Company may acquire shares of its common stock in open market or negotiated transactions up
to an aggregate purchase price of $500,000,000. Purchases of common stock under the 2025 Stock Repurchase Program may occur from time to time at the Company’s discretion. The
timing and actual number of shares repurchased will depend on a variety of factors including price, corporate and regulatory requirements, market conditions and other corporate
liquidity requirements and priorities. The 2025 Stock Repurchase Program does not have an expiration date and may be suspended or terminated at any time without prior notice. As of
the date of this Form 10-Q, the maximum dollar amount that may yet be purchased under the 2025 Stock Repurchase Program was $461,844,000.

ITEM 3.    DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES

None.

ITEM 4.        MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.

ITEM 5.        OTHER INFORMATION

During the three months ended September 30, 2025, none of the Company's directors or officers (as defined in Rule 16a-1(f) of the Exchange Act) adopted, terminated or
modified a Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement or non-Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement (as such terms are defined in Item 408 of Regulation S-K).
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ITEM 6.        EXHIBITS

Exhibit No.       Description
         

3(i).1   —   Articles of Amendment and Restatement of Articles of Incorporation of the Company, dated as of June 4, 1998. (Incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 3(i).1 to Form 10-K of the Company filed March 1, 2007.)

3(i).2   —   Articles of Amendment, dated as of October 2, 1998. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3(i).2 to Form 10-K of the Company filed March
1, 2007.)

3(i).3   —   Articles of Amendment, dated as of May 22, 2013. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3(i).3 to Form 8-K of the Company filed May 22,
2013.)

3(i).4 — Articles of Amendment, dated as of May 14, 2020. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3(i).4 to Form 8-K of the Company filed May 15,
2020.)

3(i).5 — Composite restatement of Articles of Amendment and Restatement of Articles of Incorporation of the Company, dated as of June 4, 1998, as
amended by the Articles of Amendment, dated as of October 2, 1998, the Articles of Amendment, dated as of May 22, 2013, and the Articles
of Amendment, dated as of May 14, 2020. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3(i).5 to Form 10-Q of the Company filed November 3,
2023.)

3(ii).1 — Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company, as adopted by the Board of Directors on October 30, 2023. (Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 3.1 to Form 8-K of the Company filed October 30, 2023.)

4.1 — Indenture for Debt Securities, dated as of February 23, 2024, between the Company and U.S. Bank Trust Company, National Association.
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.8 to Form 10-K of the Company filed February 23, 2024.)

4.2 — Second Supplemental Indenture, dated as of July 10, 2025, between the Company and U.S. Bank Trust Company, National Association,
including the form of 5.000% Senior Notes due 2035 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to Form 8-K of the Company filed July 10,
2025.)

10.1 — Amendment No. 1 to Seventh Amended and Restated Revolving Loan Agreement, dated as of August 1, 2025. (Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.2 to Form 10-Q of the Company filed August 7, 2025.)

10.2 — Amendment No. 1 to Term Loan Agreement, dated as of August 1, 2025. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to Form 10-Q of the
Company filed August 7, 2025.)

10.3 — Third Amended and Restated Directors Deferred Compensation Program. (Filed herewith.)
10.4 — Form of Director Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (2026). (Filed herewith.)
31.1   —   Certification pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (Chief Executive Officer). (Filed herewith.)
31.2   —   Certification pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (Chief Financial Officer). (Filed herewith.)
32

 
—

 
Certification pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer). (Furnished
herewith.)

101 — Financial materials from AvalonBay Communities, Inc.'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended September  30, 2025
formatted in Inline XBRL (Extensible Business Reporting Language) including: (i) the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets, (ii) the
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income, (iii) the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Equity, (iv) the Condensed
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows and (v) Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements. (Filed herewith.)

104 — Cover Page Interactive Data File (embedded within the Inline XBRL document). (Filed herewith.)
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Exhibit 10.3

THIRD AMENDED AND RESTATED RULES AND PROCEDURES
FOR THE

DIRECTORS’ DEFERRED COMPENSATION PROGRAM

These third amended and restated rules and procedures for the Directors’ Deferred Compensation Program (the “Program”) have been adopted on September
17, 2025 by the Board of Directors of AvalonBay Communities, Inc. (the “Company”) to govern the deferral by a Non-Employee Director pursuant to Section 8(b) of
the AvalonBay Communities, Inc. Second Amended and Restated Equity Incentive Plan, as may heretofore have been or hereafter may be amended (together with any
successor equity incentive plan of the Company or any successor to the Company, the “Plan”). All capitalized terms used herein shall have the same meaning as used
in the Plan unless otherwise specifically provided herein.

1. Election to Defer.

a. Initial Deferral Elections.

i. Generally. With respect to the compensation a Non-Employee Director will receive for a calendar year, a Non-Employee Director may elect
in advance to (i) defer payment of all or a portion of the cash compensation otherwise due to such Non-Employee Director, and/or (ii) defer
payment of all or a portion of the annual Restricted Stock Award that would otherwise be granted to such Non-Employee Director, such
deferred compensation under the preceding clauses (i) or (ii) to be thereafter delivered in the form of Restricted Stock Unit awards in
accordance with the election made pursuant to this Program (“Deferred Stock Awards”, and any such an election a “Deferral Election”). To
make a Deferral Election for the compensation to be received in a particular calendar year, the Non-Employee Director must complete an
election form specifying (i) the percentage (in increments of 25 percentage points) of cash compensation the Non-Employee Director wishes
to defer with respect to that calendar year, (ii) the percentage (in increments of 25 percentage points) of the annual Restricted Stock Award the
Non-Employee Director wishes to defer with respect to that calendar year, and (iii) for each election in the preceding clauses (i) and (ii),
which of the permitted deferral options set forth below in this Section 1.a.i the Non-Employee Director has elected. The permitted deferral
options (i.e., the time at which the Deferred Stock Awards are settled in shares of Stock) are the following:

1. Immediate Upon Departure. “Immediate Upon Departure” means, for Deferred Stock Awards granted prior to January 1, 2024, in a
lump sum upon or as soon as administratively possible following the 30  day after the Non-Employee Director incurs a Separation
from Service (as defined in Section 1.b.ii below) and (ii) for Deferred Stock Awards granted on or after January 1, 2024, in a lump
sum upon or as soon as administratively possible following the 90  day after the Non-Employee Director incurs a Separation from
Service.

2. Fifth Anniversary of Departure. “Fifth Anniversary of Departure” means in a lump sum upon or as soon as administratively
possible following the 90  day after the fifth anniversary of the date the Non-Employee Director incurs a Separation from Service.

3. Five Annual Installments. “Five Annual Installments” means five annual installments commencing upon or as soon as
administratively possible following the 90  day after the Non-Employee Director incurs a Separation from Service. Each installment
payment shall be made by settling a portion of the Deferred Stock Award in shares of Stock, such portion for each installment to be
equal to the total balance of stock units subject to payout at the time of settlement divided by the number of payments remaining
(e.g., divided by 5 for the first of the five payment and by 1 for the last of the five payments).

ii. Election Deadline; Effectiveness. Except with respect to a newly elected or appointed Non-Employee Director, any Deferral Election shall
apply only to (i) cash fees earned with respect to

th

th

th

th
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services to be performed beginning on or after the start of the calendar year following the date the Deferral Election is received by the
Company and (ii) equity awards (including Restricted Stock Awards) granted on or after the start of the calendar year following the date the
Deferral Election is received by the Company. A newly elected or appointed Non-Employee Director may, no later than such Non-Employee
Director’s start date as a Non-Employee Director, file an irrevocable Deferral Election, which shall apply only to (i) cash fees earned with
respect to services to be performed after the Deferral Election is received by the Company and (ii) equity awards (including Restricted Stock
Awards) granted after the Deferral Election is received by the Company.

iii. Revocation; Modification. Except as set forth in Section 1.a.ii above, a Non-Employee Director may revoke or modify such Non-Employee
Director’s Deferral Election by executing and delivering to the Company a new Deferral Election or a written revocation of a prior Deferral
Election, but such new Deferral Election or written revocation shall only apply with respect to (i) cash fees earned with respect to services to
be performed beginning on or after the start of the calendar year after the new Deferral Election or written revocation is received by the
Company and (ii) equity awards (including Restricted Stock Awards) granted on or after the start of the calendar year following the date the
new Deferral Election or written revocation is received by the Company.

iv. New Elections Required for Each Year’s Compensation. A Deferral Election shall only apply with respect to a single calendar year and a
separate Deferral Election must be completed for each calendar year that a Non-Employee Director serves as a Non-Employee Director. If a
Non-Employee Director fails to compete a Deferral Election by the applicable deadline, such Non-Employee Director shall be deemed not to
defer any cash fees or equity awards for such calendar year. Elections shall be made through such means, and with such deadlines, as
determined by the Company (including through a third party online account).

b. Subsequent Deferral Elections.

i. Generally. For each Deferral Election that a Non-Employee Director makes with respect to a calendar year, one (and only one) election may
be made to further defer the settlement of the Deferred Stock Awards subject to such Deferral Election (a “Subsequent Deferral Election”). A
Subsequent Deferral Election must apply to the full Deferred Stock Award (i.e., all stock units associated with that Deferred Stock Award).
The permitted subsequent deferral options (i.e., the time at which the Deferred Stock Awards subject to a Subsequent Deferral Election are
settled in shares of Stock) that may be elected in a Subsequent Deferral Election are the following:

1. Fifth Anniversary of Departure. For an original Deferral Election of Immediate Upon Departure, if a Subsequent Deferral Election is
made, the Deferred Stock Award shall (i) for awards granted prior to January 1, 2024, in a lump sum upon or as soon as
administratively possible following the 30th day after the fifth anniversary of the date the Non-Employee Director incurs a
Separation from Service and (ii) for Deferred Stock Awards granted on or after January 1, 2024, in a lump sum upon or as soon as
administratively possible following the 90th day after the fifth anniversary of the date the Non-Employee Director incurs a
Separation from Service.

2. Tenth Anniversary of Departure. For an original Deferral Election of Fifth Anniversary of Departure, if a Subsequent Deferral
Election is made, the Deferred Stock Award shall be settled in a lump sum upon or as soon as administratively possible following the
90th day after the tenth anniversary of the date the Non-Employee Director incurs a Separation from Service.

3. Five Annual Installments. For an original Deferral Election of Five Annual Installments, if a Subsequent Deferral Election is made,
the Deferred Stock Award shall be settled in five annual installments commencing upon or as soon as administratively possible
following the 90th day after the fifth anniversary of the date the Non-Employee Director incurs a Separation from Service. Each
installment payment shall be made by settling a portion of the Deferred Stock Award in shares of
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Stock, such portion for each installment to be equal to the total balance of stock units subject to payout at the time of settlement
divided by the number of payments remaining (e.g., divided by 5 for the first of the five payment and by 1 for the last of the five
payments).

Subsequent Deferral Elections shall be made through such means, and with such deadlines, as the Company determines (including through a
third party online account).

i. Election Deadline; Effectiveness. A Subsequent Deferral Election may be made at any time prior to a Non-Employee Director’s Separation
from Service (as defined below). All Subsequent Deferral Elections are irrevocable upon receipt by the Company and shall not become
effective until the first anniversary of the date that such Subsequent Deferral Election is received by the Company and then only if the Non-
Employee Director has not incurred a Separation from Service before the first anniversary of the date such Subsequent Deferral Election is
received by the Company.

For purposes of this this Directors’ Deferred Compensation Program, a “Separation from Service” means a “separation from service” (within
the meaning of Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”)), with the Company, determined in accordance
with the presumptions set forth in Treasury Regulation Section 1.409A-1(h).

2. Deferred Account.

a. Cash Deferrals. On the day following the day cash fees would otherwise have been paid to a Non-Employee Director but for such Non-Employee
Director’s Deferral Election, the Non-Employee Director’s deferred account (“Account”) shall be credited with a number of whole stock units
determined in accordance with the Deferral Election and equal in the aggregate to the number obtained by dividing (i) such Non-Employee Director’s
aggregate deferred cash fees by (ii) the Fair Market Value of a share of Stock as of the day such cash payment would otherwise have been made. All
stock units credited with respect to cash fees shall be fully vested at all times.

b. Stock Deferrals.

i. If a Non-Employee Director has elected to receive all or a portion of such Non-Employee Director’s Restricted Stock Award in the form of a
Deferred Stock Award, at such time as a Restricted Stock Award would otherwise be granted to the Non-Employe Director, the Non-
Employee Director’s Account shall also be credited with a number of stock units determined in accordance with the Non-Employee Director’s
Deferral Election and equal in the aggregate to the number of shares that otherwise would have been issued pursuant to the deferred portion
of the Restricted Stock Award. Except as otherwise provided in the applicable award agreement or by vote of the Board, stock units credited
in lieu of a Restricted Stock Award shall vest on the same dates as such Restricted Stock Award would have vested, subject to acceleration as
set forth in the applicable award agreement.

ii. By executing a Deferral Election and participating in this Program, the Non-Employee Director will have been deemed to have accepted the
Deferred Stock Award pursuant to the terms of the applicable award agreement. Further, by executing a Subsequent Deferral Election, the
award agreement for the Deferred Stock Awards subject to the Subsequent Deferral Election shall be deemed amended to provide for
settlement in accordance with this Program.

3. Dividend Equivalent Amounts. Whenever dividends (other than dividends payable only in shares of Stock) are paid with respect to Stock, each Account shall
be credited with a number of whole and fractional stock units as are determined by multiplying the dividend value per share by the applicable stock unit
balance of the Account on the record date and dividing the result by the Fair Market Value of a share of Stock on the dividend payment date. All additional
stock units credited to a Non-Employee Director’s Account pursuant to this Section 3 shall be subject to the same Deferral Elections and Subsequent Deferral
Elections as the stock units to which they relate.

4. Period of Deferral. Deferral Elections and Subsequent Deferral Elections shall terminate when a Non-Employee Director ceases to serve as a member of the
Board; provided that Deferral Elections and Subsequent Deferral
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Elections with respect to cash compensation shall continue to apply to any cash payments payable in arrears following the date that the Non-Employee
Director ceases to serve as a member of the Board.

5. Designation of Beneficiary. A Non-Employee Director may designate one or more beneficiaries to receive payments from such Non-Employee Director’s
Account in the event of the Non-Employee Director’s death. A designation of beneficiary shall apply to a specified percentage of a Non-Employee Director’s
entire interest in such Non-Employee Director’s Account. Such designation, or any change therein, must be in writing and shall be effective upon receipt by
the Company. If there is no effective designation of beneficiary, or if no beneficiary survives the Non-Employee Director, the estate of the Non-Employee
Director shall be deemed to be the beneficiary. All payments to a beneficiary or estate shall be made in a lump sum in shares of Stock, with any fractional share
paid in cash.

6. Settlement.

a. Generally. Subject to Sections 6(b), 6(c) and 6(d) hereof, all vested Deferred Stock Awards shall be settled in shares of Stock to the Non-Employee
Director, or the Non-Employee Director’s designated beneficiary (or beneficiaries) or estate, in accordance with such Non-Employee Director’s
Deferral Elections and Subsequent Deferral Elections; provided that any fractional shares shall be paid in cash.

b. Specified Employees. In the event the Non-Employee Director is a “specified employee” within the meaning of Section 409A of the Code and the
regulations promulgated thereunder, no payments shall be made prior to the earlier of the Non-Employee Director’s death, or six months and one day
after the Non-Employee Director’s Separation from Service.

c. Effect of Change in Control. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, in the event of a change in the ownership or effective control of the Company,
or in the ownership of a substantial portion of the assets of the Company, within the meaning of Section 409A of the Code and the regulations
promulgated thereunder, all Accounts under this Program shall become immediately payable in a lump sum.

d. Section 409A. This Program shall be administered in accordance with Section 409A of the Code. To the extent that any provision of this Program is
ambiguous as to its compliance with Section 409A of the Code, such provision shall be read in such a manner so that all payments hereunder comply
with Section 409A of the Code. In no event will a Non-Employee Director have a right to designate the taxable year of any payment made pursuant to
the Program.

7. Adjustments. In the event of a stock dividend, stock split or similar change in capitalization affecting the Stock, or other event contemplated by Section 3(d) of
the Plan, the Administrator shall make appropriate adjustments in the number of stock units credited to Non-Employee Directors’ Accounts.

8. Nontransferability of Rights. During a Non-Employee Director’s lifetime, any payment under this Program shall be made only to the Non-Employee Director.
No sum or other interest under this Program shall be subject in any manner to anticipation, alienation, sale, transfer, assignment, pledge, encumbrance or
charge, and any attempt by a Non-Employee Director or any beneficiary under this Program to do so shall be void. No interest under this Program shall in any
manner be liable for or subject to the debts, contracts, liabilities, engagements or torts of a Non-Employee Director or beneficiary entitled thereto.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company may make payments to an individual other than a Non-Employee Director to the extent required by a domestic
relations order.

9. Company’s Obligations to Be Unfunded and Unsecured. The Accounts maintained under this Program shall at all times be entirely unfunded, and no provision
shall at any time be made with respect to segregating assets of the Company (including Stock) for payment of any amounts hereunder. No Non-Employee
Director or other person shall have any interest in any particular assets of the Company (including Stock) by reason of the right to receive payment under this
Program, and any Non-Employee Director or other person shall have only the rights of a general unsecured creditor of the Company with respect to any rights
under this Program.

10. Administration. This Program shall be administered by the Administrator. The Administrator shall also have the discretion and authority to (i) make, amend,
interpret, and enforce all appropriate rules and regulations for the administration of this Program and (ii) decide or resolve any and all questions including
interpretations of this Program, as may arise in connection with this Program.
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Exhibit 10.4
AVALONBAY COMMUNITIES, INC.

RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT AGREEMENT

Pursuant to the terms of the AvalonBay Communities, Inc. 2009 Second Amended and Restated Equity Incentive Plan, as the same may hereafter be further amended (the “Plan”), in consideration
for services rendered and to be rendered to AvalonBay Communities, Inc. (the “Company”), in order to advance the interests of the Company and its stockholders and effect the intended purposes
of the Plan, and for other good and valuable consideration, which the Company has determined to be equal to the fair market value of the Restricted Stock Units set forth below (the “Units”), the
Company is awarding to the Director (identified or as determined immediately below) herewith the Units, upon the terms and conditions set forth herein and in the Restricted Stock Unit
Agreement Terms (the “Terms”) which are provided herewith and incorporated herein in their entirety. Capitalized terms used but not defined herein shall have the respective meanings ascribed
thereto in the Terms or in the Plan.

Award Date: [__________] (the “Award Date”)

Number of Units: [_________] Units

Director*: [_________]

* The Award Date, Number of Units and identity of the Director may be memorialized in a separate addendum executed
by the Director through electronic means.

Vesting Schedule:     Subject to the provisions of the Terms, the Units shall vest, and the status of the Units as Unvested Units shall terminate, in accordance with the following schedule of events:

Incremental Total Units Vested
Vesting Event Units Vested After Vesting Event

September 1 after the Award Date 25% 25%
December 1 after the Award Date 25% 50%
March 1 after the Award Date (following year) 25% 75%
The day prior to the first anniversary of the Annual Meeting that was held in the year of the
Award Date (or, if earlier, the day prior to the Annual Meeting held in the year after the Award
Date) 25% 100%
Termination of the Director’s service as a director by vote of the Company’s stockholders for
any reason other than Cause 100%*
Failure by the Board or any authorized committee thereof to nominate the Director for re-
election for any reason other than for Cause 100%*
Failure of the Company’s stockholders to re-elect the Director 100%*
Death or Disability of the Director 100%*
If earlier than any of the above events, a sale event 100%*
*or, if fewer, all Unvested Units

Additional Terms/Acknowledgements: The Director acknowledges receipt of, and understands and agrees to, this Restricted Unit Agreement, including, without limitation, the Terms. The
Director further acknowledges that as of the Award Date, this Restricted Unit Agreement, including, without limitation, the Terms, sets forth the entire understanding between the Director and the
Company regarding the grant of Units described herein and supersedes all prior oral and written agreements on that subject.

PROVIDED HEREWITH AND INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE: Restricted Stock Unit Agreement Terms
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AVALONBAY COMMUNITIES, INC.
RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT AGREEMENT TERMS

ARTICLE I
DEFINITIONS

The following terms used below in this Agreement shall have the meaning specified below unless the context clearly indicates to the contrary. Capitalized terms not
otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings set forth in the Plan.

Section 1.1 - Cause

“Cause” means and shall be limited to (a) an affirmative vote of the holders of at least 75 percent of the shares entitled to vote at a meeting of stockholders called for
the purpose, resolving that the Director should be removed from office or (b) a vote of the Board, the Nominating, Governance and Corporate Responsibility Committee of the
Board, if any, or any other authorized committee of the Board resolving that the Director should not be nominated for re-election as a director, in either case, as a result of (i)
conviction of a felony, (ii) declaration of unsound mind by order of a court, (iii) gross dereliction of duty, (iv) commission of any act involving moral turpitude or (v)
commission of an act that constitutes intentional misconduct or a knowing violation of law if such action in either event results in both an improper substantial personal benefit
to such Director and a material injury to the Company.

Section 1.2 - Common Stock

“Common Stock” shall mean the common stock of the Company, $.01 par value.

Section 1.3 – Disability

“Disability” shall mean the Director’s inability to perform the Director’s normal required services for the Company and its Subsidiaries for a period of six consecutive months
by reason of the individual’s mental or physical disability, as determined by the Administrator in good faith in its sole discretion.

Section 1.4 - Restrictions

“Restrictions” shall mean the restrictions set forth in Article III of this Agreement.

Section 1.5 - Secretary

“Secretary” shall mean the secretary of the Company.

Section 1.6 - Unvested Units

“Unvested Units” shall mean the Units (as defined in the Restricted Unit Agreement) issued under this Agreement for as long as such Units are subject to the
Restrictions (as hereinafter defined) imposed by this Agreement.

ARTICLE II
RESTRICTED UNITS

Section 2.1 - Unvested Units

Any Units granted on the Award Date pursuant to this Agreement shall be considered Unvested Units for purposes of this Agreement and shall be subject to the
Restrictions until such time or times and except to the extent that the Units vest in accordance with the Vesting Schedule set forth on the first page of this Agreement.

Section 2.2 ‑ Rights as Stockholder

From and after the Award Date, the Director shall not have any of the rights of a stockholder with respect to the Units until the Units are distributed to the Director in
the form of Common Stock, except with respect to Dividend Equivalent Rights as set forth on Section 2.3.

Section 2.3 – Dividend Equivalent Rights

All Units granted hereunder shall carry Dividend Equivalent Rights which shall entitle the Director to receive additional Units, based on the amount of actual
dividends payable by the Company with respect to the Common Stock. The
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amount of dividend equivalents credited to the Director’s Units shall be credited on the day following the dividend payment date for such dividend based on the Fair Market
Value of a share of Stock on the payment date. Such additional Units shall also carry Dividend Equivalent Rights. All additional Units credited to a Director’s account pursuant
to this Section 2.3 shall be fully vested at all times.

ARTICLE III
RESTRICTIONS

Section 3.1 ‑ Reversion of Unvested Units

Except as provided in clauses (a) through (e) of this sentence or in the following paragraph, any interest of the Director in Units that are Unvested Units shall
immediately terminate if the Director’s service as a director of the Company terminates for any reason, unless such termination of service results from (a) death of the Director,
(b) Disability of the Director, (c) removal of the Director from office by vote of the Company’s stockholders for any reason other than for Cause, (d) failure by the Board or any
authorized committee thereof to nominate the Director for re-election for any reason other than for Cause or (e) failure of the Company’s stockholders to re-elect the Director.

Notwithstanding the provisions of the preceding paragraph, in the event that any Unvested Units are forfeited, the Director shall be entitled to payment with respect to
any Units credited to his account pursuant to the Dividend Equivalent Rights accrued on the Unvested Units in accordance with Section 2.3 before the date of such event.

Section 3.2 – Units Not Transferable

No Units, whether vested or unvested, or any interest or right therein or part thereof shall be liable for the debts, contracts or engagements of the Director or the
Director’s successors in interest or shall be subject to disposition by transfer, alienation, anticipation, pledge, encumbrance, assignment or any other means whether such
disposition be voluntary or involuntary or by operation of law or judgment, levy, attachment, garnishment or any other legal or equitable proceedings (including bankruptcy),
and any attempted disposition thereof shall be null and void and of no effect; provided, however, that this Section 3.2 shall not prevent transfers by will or by applicable laws of
descent and distribution until the Units are distributed to the Director in shares of Common Stock. Until such time when the shares of Common Stock are distributed to the
Director, the Director’s rights under this Agreement shall be similar to that of an unsecured creditor of the Company.

Section 3.3 – Timing and Form of Distribution

To the extent not forfeited pursuant to Section 3.1, Units shall be exchanged into shares of Common Stock on a one-for-one basis and shall be distributed to the
Director on a date determined by the Company in accordance with the Company’s Director’s Deferred Compensation Program (as amended and restated from time to time) and
the Director’s deferral election thereunder; provided, however, if the Director is a “specified employee” within the meaning of Section 409A of the Code and the regulations
promulgated thereunder, such distribution shall be made no earlier than the Director’s death, or six months and a day after the Director’s separation from service. In no event
will a Director have a right to designate the taxable year of any payment made pursuant to this Agreement. Any fractional Unit shall be distributed in cash at the same time.

ARTICLE IV
MISCELLANEOUS

Section 4.1 ‑ Conditions to Issuance of Stock

The Company shall not be required to issue or deliver any certificate or certificates or enter the Director’s name as the stockholder of record on the books of the
Company for shares of Stock pursuant to this Agreement prior to fulfillment of all of the following conditions:

(a) The admission of such shares to listing on all stock exchanges on which such class of stock is then listed; and

(b) The completion of any registration or other qualification of such shares under any state or Federal law or under rulings or regulations of the Securities and
Exchange Commission or of any other governmental regulatory body, which the Company shall deem necessary or advisable; and

(c) The obtaining of any approval or other clearance from any state or Federal governmental agency which the Company shall, in its absolute discretion,
determine to be necessary or advisable.

Section 4.2 - Administration
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The Committee shall have the power to interpret the Plan, this Agreement and all other documents relating to the Units and to adopt such rules for the administration,
interpretation and application of the Plan as are consistent therewith and to interpret, amend or revoke any such rules. All actions taken and all interpretations and
determinations made by the Committee in good faith shall be final and binding upon the Director, the Company and all other interested person. No member of the Committee
shall be personally liable for any action, determination or interpretation made in good faith with respect to the Plan or the Units and all members of the Committee shall be fully
protected by the Company in respect to any such action, determination or interpretation. The Board shall have no right to exercise any of the rights or duties of the Committee
under the Plan and this Agreement.

Section 4.3 - Notices

Any notice to be given under the terms of this Agreement to the Company shall be addressed to the Company in care of its Secretary, and any notice to be given to the
Director shall be addressed to him at the address maintained in the Company’s records. By a notice given pursuant to this Section 4.3, either party may hereafter designate a
different address for notices to be given to him, her, them or it. Any notice which is required to be given to the Director shall, if the Director is then deceased, be given to the
Director’s personal representative if such representative has previously informed the Company of the Director’s death and address by written notice under this Section 4.3. Any
notice shall have been deemed duly given when enclosed in a properly sealed envelope or wrapper addressed as aforesaid and deposited (with postage prepaid) in a post office
or branch post office regularly maintained by the United States Postal Service.

Section 4.4 ‑ Titles

Titles and captions are provided herein for convenience only and are not to serve as a basis for interpretation or construction of this Agreement.

Section 4.5 ‑ Amendment

This Agreement may be amended only by a writing executed by the parties hereto which specifically states that it is amending this Agreement.

Section 4.6 ‑ Governing Law

The laws of the State of Maryland shall govern the interpretation, validity, administration, enforcement and performance of the terms of this Agreement regardless of
the law that might be applied under principles of conflicts of laws.

Section 4.7 ‑ Counterparts

This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which together shall constitute one and the same
instrument.

Section 4.8 - No Special Rights

This Agreement does not, and shall not be interpreted to, create any right on the part of the Director to nomination, election or continued service as a director of the
Company or any subsidiary or affiliate thereof, nor to any continued compensation, prerequisites or other current or future benefits or other incidents of such service nor shall it
interfere with or restrict in any way any right or power, which is hereby expressly reserved, to remove or not to renominate the Director at any time for any reason whatsoever,
with or without cause.

[End of Text]
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Exhibit 31.1
 

CERTIFICATION
 

I, Benjamin W. Schall, certify that:
 

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of AvalonBay Communities, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements
made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and
have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly
during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of
the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

 
 Date: November 6, 2025

 

 

/s/ BENJAMIN W. SCHALL
 

Benjamin W. Schall
 

Chief Executive Officer and President
(Principal Executive Officer)
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Exhibit 31.2
 

CERTIFICATION
 

I, Kevin P. O'Shea, certify that:
 

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of AvalonBay Communities, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements
made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and
have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly
during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of
the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

 
Date: November 6, 2025

 

/s/ KEVIN P. O'SHEA
 

Kevin P. O'Shea
 

Chief Financial Officer
 

(Principal Financial Officer)
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Exhibit 32
 

CERTIFICATION
 

The undersigned officers of AvalonBay Communities,  Inc. (the “Company”) hereby certify that the Company’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q to which this certification is
attached (the “Report”), as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof, fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d), as applicable,
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), and that the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial
condition and results of operations of the Company.
 
 
Date: November 6, 2025

 

/s/ BENJAMIN W. SCHALL
 

Benjamin W. Schall
 

Chief Executive Officer and President
 

(Principal Executive Officer)
   
   
 

/s/ KEVIN P. O'SHEA
 

Kevin P. O'Shea
 

Chief Financial Officer
 

(Principal Financial Officer)

 
This certification is being furnished and not filed, and shall not be incorporated into any document for any purpose, under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 or the Securities
Act of 1933.
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